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' REASONS FOR DECISION AND ORDER *

“The Applicants, 1775081 Ontarin’ inc. a/a. Ganadian ‘Best Auto Inc. and Hadi
. Mahmoodi gppeal 1o Ihis Tribunal from a decision of the Registrar under the Motor

" Vehlcle Dealers Act, 2002, 8. O. 2002 ¢. 30 Sched. B (the "Act’) dated August 23, A
- 2010 tu revoké {he registration of the corporate Applicant asa maotor vehicle dealer .

“and of Mr. Mahmaoodi as & salesperson.. - .

~ The original Notice of Proposal lo Revoke;I has been madified by the withdrawal of a
" number of allegations and it has been supplémented by three Noticas of Further and

" Othar Particulars: one dated Margh 31, 2011,2 one dated Septembier 19, 20113 and
tha third dated December 16, 2011.4 ST T R

There wete 24 paragraphs of partlculars set oul in the Notice of Praposatl. Of these, 11
were withdrawn at the commengement of the hearing. The withdrawn allegations are
set out in paragraphs 6 lhrough 10, 12, 14; 15, 16, 19 and 23. The March 31 Nofice
added anottier 16 paragraphs of particulars; the September 19 Notice addad 13 more;

and the December 18 Nolice added angther 13. During the hearing, the Aegistrar .
withdrew several of the particulars in the September 19 Notice, in particular, paragraph -

5 concerning Consuner V and paragraphs 12 and 13 relating to Cansumet AA. The
allegations relating o the Applicants may be broken down as follows: s

1. Allagations relating to consurier complaints, in particular, the tailuré 10
provide a basic warranty of fitness for purposs;

2. - Allegatiuns relaling io failure to properly complete and deliver bil‘lé ot aale to _

consumers in accordance with the Act and regulations; in particutar:
a. Failure to disclose financing terms, R o
b Failure to disclose all of the fees and charges relating o the salc of &
vehicle ... o0 = -
. & Failure to disclose material facts, especially damage history,

d. - Accepting deposits from consumers and failing to provide a bill of sale, -

- and . o o )

e. Failure to provide a bill of sale to consumers despite the completion of

_ the sale and delivery of the vehicle; - - R S :

3. An allégation relating to fraudulently signing & cohsumer's nama to a bill of

sale and ‘delivering the bill of sale to OMVIC to defend against the

consumer's claim for thé return of a depoeit! . : IR

4, Allegations against Mr. Mahmoodi relating to acting a salespersan under tha
Act when he was not registered to do 50;

1Bx1
2Fx4
TEx 18
4 Fx 19
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5. An allegation that the Applicants carried on the busingss of golling cars. - -
7 durinig the period following October 3, 2011 when their registrationto do 8o -

~“was suspencied by this Tribunal; -

6. Allegations that the Appli'cant'detibe‘ralélfdelivc'rcu talsified documents to S
. OMVIC with tha intent to' misiead OMVIC when dealing with consumer. .- -

- complaints. - -

" Atthe recommencement of the hearing on May 7, 2012, Mr, Gotd sdvieed the Tripunal ~
‘that he cauld na longer represent the Applicants but that he was prepared to remain at

. the Applicants’ table to assist, The Applicart, Mr- Mahmoodi, was adviged that the: . e .
* Tribunal woild adjourn the matter for him to seek new legal representation buthe .- .-

- chose to praceed without legal representation. -

. BACKGROUND FACTS

The background facts aré notin dispute. Mr. Mahmoodi i the sole officer and director

ot the carporate Applicant. He wag rogistered 8s'a galesparson and the corporate

Applicant was registered as a dealérship on Decomiver 16, 2008. Tha corporate :
- Applicant signed terms and conditions of registration on Decembar 14, 2008, Withirr
four months of registration, the Fegistrar began to receive complants from consumers

~ about the Appleants. -

- The Tribunal Hoard trom a number of consumor witnesses with respect to their .
" dealings with tha Applicantg, In the Natlees, t0 protact their privacy, lhese consumiers: ©
are idortificd by letters of the alphabaet. Ag far as possible the Tribunal will use the -~ -
~ same lottering system as set out In tha varlous Notices {0 idenlify consumers whao o
tastificd Before it or whose complaints ware dealt with in the gvidence. PR

" EVIDENTIARY ISSUE

" A tha course of thase reasons, the Tribunal has referred 1o the evidence of an expert - BT
In the CarProof systam, Paul Maiorana. Mr. Majorana's eviderice was advanced by
the Reglstrar as reply evidence following the Regislrar's motion for leave to intraduce .

reply evidence. Tha Registrar's justification far the need to proffer this évidence arose

“out of the examination of Ms Farrah Mohammed. Ms Mohammed was cross-examined: RIS
‘aggresslvely on the contants of & CarProuf report she had ordered prior to giving =~
avidenci al lhe Tsibunal, That report showed & history of damage to a vehicle while: -

the bill of sale for lhe vehicle prepared by the Applicants indicated no damage history.

in haidling e consumer complaint, Ms Mohammiad had testified that she had asked

the: Agplicarts t larwaid a copy of a CarProof report that they allagad showad no

damage to the veticle. She leslified that the Applicants had not sentit. Atthe request

of the Applicants, the Registrar iacalied Ms Mohammed to the stand after she had a
chance to search the OMVIC databiase to see if the Applicants had sent furthar
documents as they alleged, : . : . :

416 325 S217 TO 94165123758
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" On Ms Mohamimed's récall she indicated that she had discovered othier documents -
- and that evidence is canvassod bolow, | The Applicants’ then produced, and puta oo
- CarProof report 1o her that purgarted to be lssued ori June 8, 2010 that was sllentas . - .
. toa damage history. Ma Mohammid had no explanation for why fie OMVIC CarProof:* .« .
- report issued in Septembar 20711 showed ¢amage prior to-June 9, 2010 thatdidnot - .
- appear on the Applicants’ report. [t was in response to this gvidence thatthe Registrar- ..

- sought to tender thie evidencs of Mr. Maiorana inreply, oo

" The Federal Court haa recently had to conélder the admissibilily of reply evicdence -~ ©
" in the case ot Merck-Frosst-Schering GP MVIA v. Canada (Minister of Health) ..+
- [2009] F.C.J. No. 1092, 2009 FC 914, 79 C.P.R. (47). 100, 180 ACW.S. (3d) 489...  -* .
" In that case, Novepharm; a respondent in the underlying aciion, had sought leave - .-
. to file affidavit avidonco in reply and had been danled at first Instance by thé. =
Prothonotary; On appoal to the Fadaral Court; the Cuuil upheld Nevapharm's© 000
" appeat and in'doing so, at paragraph 10 of the decision, set out a four part test for+ -
“ the admissibility of reply avidence which the. Tribunal finds persuasive, as tallowa! - -

(o7 i considerhg e motion to lle feply svidenca, the Mrathonotary oorraatly set - - o
- out the rolevant teat as enunclated In Pfizer Canada v. Canada (Minisler of Heaitn), .= ..
- 2007 FC 508 (Cant 1l), 2007 FC 508, Ef Ly Canada v. Apotex ing,, 2008 FC U3 ;
{Canlil), 2006 k¢ b6Y; and other declsions of this Court: The lest has four. . '
cumpixwnts as follows: . Bt R T S PR A PO P

W whether the furiher evidence servea the intorcats c_fjuei"fco';-.' e _
G wheihar the further evidehce assista the Court in making e determination on - .
omertsy e
iy whelier gfanting th motion will case substartial or serious prejudice tothe
Sy vihitliex the reply evidence was avalladle and/or could riot bo anticipated a8
© being relevant at an earlier date. T

Iy considering the interest of justice, it would be easy o collapse this tost into the . - .
second branch. Making a final determination on the merits is the goal of all litigatiors - .

' before tribunals and cours and can, therefore be said to serve the interests of justice "

" at a most fundamental level. In this case, the Tribunal can say with cénalnty that the -

. avidénce was of greal assistance to the Tribunal in making a determination on the. -
imerits. The Tribunal is of the view that the first test is somcwnat broader. It may be
restated that it wotld be unfair to both the party advancing the evidence and the
Tribunal if the evidence is riot admifted. The Tribunat finds that to permit the Applicants -

- to tender the impugnad CarProot report of Juna 9, 2010 without giving the Registiar - .~

~ the ability to respond would work such untairness, - - - R
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have legal representation;, the Tribunal must fill the gap to some extent. The - . .. -
impuyned document was advanced by the Applicants. Mr. Malorana's evidence went. - :
lo the manner in which CarProof reparts are prepared and delivered.” This process. - . -
-~ was well known 10 the Applicants and there can be nu Suiprive or prejudice aniging oul 5
+ o of such evidence. The substance of Mr. Maiorana's evidence concermed possible -
“L ateration of the June 9 201OCaeroflepurlby the Applicaits. Given the facl thal the -
- impugned June 9, 2010 CarProof report was produced by the Applicanls, details ot its =
-+ provenance and potentlal alteration cannot come as a surprise to the Applrcanls The DI

5 Trrbunal can find no bae,h far quhﬁtan’rlal or seuous premd:ce

The final 'rF-qI rlea’ms lhe L|LIL-.'b|.lUII UI' whu knew what dlld when Appruachmg llle' _
.. - ‘casg, the Registrar was aware that a September 2011 CarProof report showed an
* - Accident hiskary | It was not until the case was uniderway and lhe Applicants produced

the imipligned CarProof repart that the Registrar's attention coutd have been drawn to

the possibility of tampering.: The Tribunal is of e view lhal the impugned CarProol |
reporl c0u|d niot ha\re been antucrpated pnar to hearmg dlld s pruperly reply evrdeme

- M. Maforana testitied cnnc:ernlng accident da mage in 1wu mhm cases. Inone of thasa

cases, the Applicant testified that he did not order a CarProot report but had ordereda

competing product, & CarFax rapart. In the sacond case, he deniad knowladge of an
aceident history. Again, Mr. Maiarana's evidence addresses issue raised for the first
tlme |n the Appllcanta ewdence and it meats thé fF-s'r for reply emdr—*ncp setaut above.

' EVIDENCE

The Fleglstrars first wutness was Chad Puddicombe. Mr Puddicombe is an mspechnr -

‘with the Ontario Motor Vehicle industry Councll (OMV!O) the office of the Repistrar

under the Act. He spends all of his time in the field ensuring compliance with the Act - :

and with the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"). On January 8, 2009; he made a routine

“ - unscheduled new dealer visit to the Applicants at their new premises at 1900 Wilson

~-Avenue in Toronto, He met with Mr. Mahmoodi and discussed the obligations of new.

.dealgrships under the Act. the Standlarda of Business FPractice and the GFPA. Mr.
- Puddicombe felt that he developed a rapport wﬂh Mr Mahmoodi notmg that Mr
| Mahmoom liked 10 uqe the name "Mike." o _ .

In M. Puddrcombc cxmrlence, new dealers have A great many questlona ﬂnd he _

.-'spant'an hour with Mr. Mahmoodi outlining the regulatory scheme, the terms and

conditions of registration, the garage register and the keeping of books and records. -

He specifically dealt with the eencept of fitneas for purpoeaa under the CPA, as well as
liguidated damages and transaction tees. Mr. Mahmoodi appeared to be sattsﬁed with
all of his explanations and did not ask for further details.

Aboul two weeks later, on January 29, 2009, ho met with Mr. Mahmoodi again. On this
occasion, Mr. Puddicombe was visiting another dealership that sharad spaco with the
Applicants. He took lhe opporlunity to discuss the mandatory requirement for a refund
within 90 days in the event there has been imaleral non-disclosure. He delineated the

3

.BE
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grounds for a refund as: vehicle does not match the description; the vehicle haa been

used as a fleel car; or the branding classification on the vehicle haa not been. -

disclosad. He advised Mr. Mahmoadi that he might sell anything he wished to sell ag
lung s he gave full disclosure. Parl of the discussion on January 29 dealt with all-in
priging. Mr. Puddicombe pointed out that, under the Act, the Applicanta must provide a

bill of sale that splits out individual fees and charges. He explainad that a single price.

~on the bill of sale is not permissible under the Act. - -

Mr. Mahmoadi teSti'fiécl.bnncemi.n.g his ﬂe'alihgé with Chad Puddicombe. According 10

- Mr. Mahmoodi, on no oceasion did Mr. Puddicombe conduct & visit 10 his premises
. specitically to see him. On each occasion, Mr. Puddicornba was visiting arother dealer

- with whom the Applicants shared premises. Incidental to these visits, My, Puddicombe K

struck up a conversation with Mr. Mahmoodi focused on a common interest in physical
titheas. Mr. Puddicombe, according to Mr. Mahmoodi, never covared any of the toplce
listed above. His overall evidence was that OMVIC provided no back-up o training for

him as an inexperienced dealer starting out in the industry. OMVIC failcd to otfer

seminara, counseling or written advice, Mr, Mahmoodi stated that he did not receive
mailings aent out from OMVIC such as dealer bulleting or the OMVIC quarterly
newsletter, _ . .

Consumer S teslified canceming his expariances with the Applicants. In the fall of
2010 Consumer S was looking 10 purchase a 3 sgrics BMW, He is not residant In
Toranto o whon ha came to Toronto laoking for this type of vehicle he weritto 2
humber of dealerships, The Applicant dealership was the last ona ha vislted. He met

with someone named Rahmics who enowed him a 1999 BMW 3234 He test drove the

vehicle with Rahmio and liked it. He did point cut a number of issuas and Rahmic

- undertook to deal with them, Rahmic stated that it he weore 10 pay a $300,00 “safety

fee" the vehicle would be perfect when picked it up. In particular, Rahmic stated that
the vehicle would have had an oil change, a broken drivers side mirror would b fixed,
a hola in tha rear turn signal lens would be rapalred and a ¢iunking nelse In the trunk
would be remedied. Rahmie showed Consumar S a copy of a CarProof reporl
indicaling thal the vehicle had no darmage history bul did nol provide a copy.

Consumer 8 met with the Applicant, Mr. Mahmocdli to finalize terms. In addition to the
$300.00 safety fee, Consumer S paid a $500.00 deposit and paid for the plales. After
dealing wilh Rahmic, a bill of sale was made up for the sale price hut there is no
mention of the salely lea or any uther fee.8 Only (he $500.00 depasit is mentioned.
There is also no mention of any damage history disclosure.

On pick-up about a week later, despite Rahmic's reassurance that sverything was
fixed, Consumer 3 noted that the mirrer was still broken. Rahmic fixed it. A warning
light Murninated on the dash as soon as Gonsumer S took the vehicle. Rahmic advised
that it was a traction control light. Pushing the traction control button seemed to
address the issue,

5 Ruhmity hanbarittan business card was ervered as Bx 3
6 Fx 6, Tab 10 p.52
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By the time Canaumer S left for homa it had started raining. Ho noted that at 116 kph
on & 400 aeries highway the vehicle appeared to dnft. If he slowed down 10 96 kph the
problem appeared to resolve. He pulled over but everything appeared to be in good
ordar sa he continucd. Hig son then took the vehicle and had problems with it,

Consumer § called Mr, Ma'hmobdi,'wnom hio know as Miko, to talk 260Ut the problems: -

Mr. Mahmaodi appeared 1o be very congermed and suggested he bring the vehlcle
back to the Apphoant's promiges for inspaction and repairs. Beeoause of the distance,

Consumcr S waa refuctant to do 56 and it was agreed that he wouldi taka It, athis - -

- pxpense, to a local fagility to be checked out. The local tire dealer he took i§ to stated

that the vahicle should not have passed 1ts safety inspegtion bocause of the tiree. The
next moming, a meshanic described the tires as “baraly legal” and advised against
driving the vehicle to Toronto, The gongumer callad Mr. Mahmoodi to ack for naw tires
and suggested they spht the cost.

Within a week and with less than 400 km on the odometer since purchasa, the vehicle
broke down while being driven by the consumer's soh and had to be towedto a ra pair
taclity. At this ime, Consumer S wag away on vacation. The repalr facllity identified a
neod for new fuel linas, fusl pump and fuel fitar. The repair facllity aleo identified worn
bushings in the back end of the vehicle that were the cause of the clunking noise in the
trunk that was supposed to have been fixed before delivery, The total cost ol repaiss
including four new tires was approximately $1700.00 plus tax.

When Consumet S called Mr, Mahmoodi fram out of the country, Mr. Mahmoodi yelled
al hirn that he was nol responsible and hung up the phone. Consumer S called back
several times but ng-one answered. Finally, he called from another number. Mr.
Muhrioodl answered the new line and was much more reasonable, He tuld Consumer
S 1o bring the vehicle back to Toranto, By this time, Consurmer $ had gxhausted any
confidence he had that the Applicants would provide compensation. He choge lo
advance his complaints through the OMVIC complaint handling service rather Ihan
deal directly. All further dealings with the Applicants were through OMVIC.

On December 11, 2010 the vehicle was vandalized and was out of service for a month
in a body shop in the consumer's neighborhood. In light of this, it came as a sueprise to
Cansumer S when OMVIC forwarded a repair bill dated December 17 that indicatad

the car had been repaired in Toronto at & cost of $565.00, When Consumer S failed ta

pay for this repalr bill, the Applicants threatened and then registered a lien against the
vehicle for $1.000.00 In the name of Cansumer S and his soh, the latter never having
hed any ownership of the vehicle.

Following notification of the lien, Consumer S decided to do some further checking. He
obtaincd a CarProot report that indicated that the vehicle had been in an accident and
had sustained $4,829.00 of damage. A BMW dealer advised him that the accident
would result in a loss of valug of approximately $1,500.00, Consumer S calied Mr.
Mahmoodi and asked him for the $1,500.00 10ss of valug. He was offcred $400.00 and

P
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threatened that if he pushed for $1,500.00 the Applicants would seek 1o entorca the
ligmn, _ : .

Consumer $ contacted the repalr facility about the $565.00 bill, He spoke to the
service manager, Cameren. Cameron advised Consumer § that Mr, Mahmoodi had

. requesled copies of lhe bill bul thal Ihe car the dealership had worked on was black,

“wheieas Cunsumer 8's vehicle was silver.7 :

. Thie day after the discussion with Cameron, Mr. Mahmoodi callad Consumer 8 and
- advised him that he was removing the lien. Because of the toll taken on Consurmner 8
*and his wife by lhe course of the dealings with Mr, Malwnioudi; Consumer 5 decidedto
~offer to seftle for $800.00. This oller was accepled, bul Mr. Mahmoodi subsequently
“statect that his lawyer wanled some substantial documentlation of the' setilement. To
the date of this witness's testimony, no ieller had been sent to Consumer S.

Mr. Mahmoadi addressed his dealings with Consumer 8 when he testified. He
sonfirmad thal he had made an offer to settle. In his examination-in-chief, he stated
that the amount that Consumer & accepted was $400.00 but during cross-examination
he confirmed tha amount of $900.00. He aiso confirmed that it had never been paid
despile the lapse of over a year since the ofter was accepted.

With respect to the safety and other defacts with the vehicle, Mr. Mahmoodi danied
that he refused to repair them. He alao denied any agreement to have the vehicle
taken 1o a local mechanic for repairs. He atated the he told Consumer S 1o bring the
vehicic back to Toronto wherg the Applicants’ mechanic could [ook atit. Ho stated that
he was willing to repair any problems relating to the safety certificate, but only if his
maochanic told him it was negessary. He also stated that it was his policy 10 fix any pro-
existing problema with vehicles he sold following inspection by his mochanic. He
necded 1o confirm that the defects ware actually pre-existing and not as a result of
incorrect bogsting of hosihg dowh of the engng by the consumer, Given that
GConsumarS had had a new fue) pump, fuel fiter and fuel lines installed, itis difficult to
fathom how boosting the car baltery or hosing down the ¢ngine ¢could cause such
damaga.

With respact io Consumer §' aliagations of rudanass and lack of professionalism, Mr.
Mabmoodi stated that he was never rude. Sometimes his accent oh the phone may
come across as being abrupt but that Is net his Intention.

Itwas Mr. Mahmoudi's evidence Lhal he put the lien on in good (aith, He was oul of the
country during the time when Whe work was done, Re had asked his mechanic to look
over lhe car il Consumer $ brought it back and carry out the necessary repairs. On his
retumn, ha saw lhe repair bill and assumed it was work done by the mechanic lo fix
garlier identified issues. When Consumer S reported tha fallure o disclose the

7 The Tribunal notes that the repair invaices alleged to relate to this repair total about $300.00 for parts and
Ishonr and are detalled. The Applicants’ invoice has no explanation of the charges and is for $500.00 plus
taxes. Seo Ex & tab 10 poges 82 to 84 and 89
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]

acoident history to OMVIC, Mr. Mahmoodi dacided to"registér'a lian. A's' soon as the _

mistake was clarified, he removed the lien.

Mr. Mahmood testifiad that he was Unawars fhat the vehicle had an accident history.
He produced, for the Tribunalto gee, an Auction Bill of Sala ralating to his purchase of

" the car. Wrivles no accident damage.8 He also produced a Car Fax report that shows -

' no duriiage.9 He stated that when he found. out about the damage history, he.
contacted Consumer S and advised that he was sorry, ha had no inlention to mislead -
and thal he wished 1o offer some compenaation. it was thie discussion that ultimataly

" led to the offer of $900.00..

I the face &f MF. Mahmoodi's denial that he was aware of the accident damage, in -

- reply evidence, Paul Maiorana, & representative of CarProof testified on hehalf of the
Registrar. Mr. Maiorana 15 the Sales and Businews Developrment Manager. for
CarPraof. He has been there for 8 years and is currently CarProof's longest serving:
employee. Mr. Maiorana i3 giag the salesperson with responsibility for the Toronte
ares. He stated that Toronto is a mature market for CarProof so he spends most of hia

time doing training and praduct: promaotion rather than selling. He deacribed the:
manner in which CarProof devalops vehicle repurls, their sources of data and the-

manner in which roports are delivered to custorners and then archived. - -

M. Maiorana stated that CarProof was formed in 2000 to conduct lien searches on

used cars on a Canada-wide basis, It wus soon recognized that adaing an ascident’
and registration history search would provide added value, CarProof now provides
Canada-wide lien, registration, vehicle branding, Insurance and accident information, [t
is unlikc othiei Vehlcle saarch services in that it does not dewnload data onto its own
website and then respond to an Infurmvation request. Yearch requiests arc conducted In
real time with data baing downlvaded into the vehicle report dircst from the dala
source, whether that be from provincial government databases, insurance company

gatabases or repalr facillly dalabases. Accordingly, 8 GarProof roport always contuing

the most up to date infurmation, not infarmation thet may hava become stale because
of a lag in updaling a central database. o - o L

Mr, Maiurané. then described how dealers 806665 CarProof. Each dealer is assighed |

user name and a password. In the case of the Applicants, fheir Wuser name was - -
Hadi58. Orce a repart is requested on a particular Vehicte ldentification Number {VIN),
CarPruif sesks informatian from multiple databasts and populates the jeport temiplate

with the information, This process may take soma time depending if the databases are
anlire or offiine due to some problem. As the saarch is ongoing, there is A niotation on
the report that it is incomplete and information regarding the databases that have not
yetreported.10 Once all databasos reepond, CarProof locks that particular report and

8 Ex26

9 Ex 77 Vol 2, Tah 10, Pupe92 ] )

10 An cxample of on incomplatd TepOK may be seen at Bx 27 On ihe i of the report i3 a notation
“Incoraplere: Reparing™ <nd io ihe Data Reporting lino oo entry indicates that the Yukon darabase hag not yst

rcportod,

416 825 5217 TO 94185123758
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= asslgns a umque rpport number lo |tW|th the date and time when it was requested by AR
tho dealer. The dealer may access tha report for six months. Thereaiter, itis archived -+
in the CarFroof system and may only be accessed by CarProul employee‘a Ofnoleis
. the fact lhat the report cannnt he ahpred on lhe CarProof syslem once all dalabases O
- respond ey : Ry _

CMIR Ma:oranathen producedaprlnmui nfall thp (‘aeripnquurles relahng toavws B R S CRLA RN
. in’igsue in this proceading. 11" 'One of thase VINs was the vehicle purchased by .
e Consumer Sin the fall of 2010. Tha reportindicated that the Apphcants had requested o
- a GarProot report regarding this vehicle on June 9, 2610 at 12:12 p.mi; Mr: Maiorana . 200
. then produced the report from the CarPraaf archives.12 The report indicatés that the
- vehiole purchased by Gonsumer S had bieen in a collision and sustained $§4,829.000f -+ "
" 'damage on Beptember 28,1999, The othar repnrts referenced in Exh|b|t 33 will be B
- addressed Iater in the revuaw of the evidence. : _ S

' Amy Thraqher testmed in her capaclty a3 an OMVIC C‘nmplaml‘a Hﬂndlpr ln dPallng S
. with tho complaint of Gonaumer S, shé set cut a number of areas that caused har
- eoncern. She was concerned that the vehicle had been misrepresanted 1o Conaumer - 0
- 8 by the fallurc of the Applicanta to disclose the damage history. She was concarmed -
- that the: Applicants uscd the- seirvices ol an unregistared salésperson, Mahimig, in--
dealing with Consurner 8, Mr, Mahimoodi denied the tact that Rahmic worked forhim = -
~or showed the. vehicle to Corisumer S. She was conccrnad that the Applicants had .~
- produced and tried to use in negotiations a repairinvglce wher the vehicle was several =~ -
© hundred kilometres from Toronto when thie repairs werg allegedly carried out, Finally,
- she was concermied that the Applicaits had registered a lign againstthe vehicle inthe -
o mamie of Consumer § and hls son dcsputa tnc fact that ro repair" could have been e
ol done o the vehlcle R, S e "

: The noles angd other ducumants rela'dng to Ms anaﬂher's dcalmg with c:'onsumcr SHAN
.-~ and the Applicants are set out In Exhibit & at Tab 10, For the most part, her notes and
- recolleclion track the evidence of Consumer S as far as her dealings with Consumears
. go. She reviewed the' repair bill that became’ the basis for the lien at page 83 and -
“ notad that lhe parts on the bill relate tg a 2004 BMW 320/ whergas Coneumer $ had:
.. purchased a 1999 BMW 323/, When she rafsed these Issues with Mr. Mahmoodi, she =
. found him.very dilficult to deal with, His dlscusslone were fraughl wuth contradlcnons SRS
S and, in hen \new, dl;lmnesty g 8 : . s

2 t"i‘O'Rs-examlnatton Ms Thra.z.her addressed tha vehlcla damage hlstory Issue She'
was shown'a Gar Fax report dated May 2010. This report doeg not show any damage
history. She conceded that the Applicants might have relied on this reporiand soldthe
vehicle in the belief that it had no damage history. In her view, reliance on oné vehicle: -

.. report wag inaufficient due diligence for a dealer. She noted that the vehicle had been
- damaged whilo it was owned by BMW Canada. She stated that the sales mvoice from
BMW Canada would have recorded the damage history of the vehicle and that the' -

PAGE 11/43 ™ RC\!D AT S5/29/2012 1:33:15 FM [East_erﬁ Daylight Time] = SYR:OMWVICEAX-B/3 ~ DNIS: 3758 ™ .CSI.D:41_G__ 325 SZ1r - DUR .
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" Applicants should have checked the earlier invoios trall. She was aleo of theviewthat =
~ a dealor should probably run & Car Fax report and a CarProof roport. The formarisa . ..o
- US company and the latter is Canadian, Sometimas information will be Included inone .. - .

. report that Ig niot included in another, "~

- When testifying abaut the fact that tha vehicle broke down withir & week and 400 kin B
© ol being purchased, Ms Thrasher felt that the vehicle was nol fil for ils putpose under . = - - o o
" the CPA. In her view, the Applicants should have done more when confronted with the . .
breakdown to satisfy their obligations under the lagistation lu make Ihe consumer ..
- happy. Shie was simmifarly unimpressed when addressing (he repair invoice, While she .-~ "
" coriceded that the Applicants may have- genuinely believed that the repair involce.
* related to: the vehicle, she: feit the ‘Applicants: should: have exercised. more. due.
t was the ¢ pecially before pulting @ lien on the vehicle .-

- diligance to confiim that was the case, es
for an arnount well in excess of the face value of the invoige.. -~ -~

* Consumat O testified concerning a 2005 Nissan she purchasad on Jluly 10, 2010, She - .

" miet with Mr. Mahmoodi after having seen an on-line advertisement for the vehicle. - =
“When sha'went to look at the vehicle she was asked for a $600.00 deposit. She was .

" not allowed to test drive it She provided a $500.00 thaque for the déposit. She then . -

.~ inade two payments by money okder in the amounts of $4,000.00 and $2,000.00 and.

- paid a balance of $1,500.00 in cash when she picked up the vehicle. o

On the drive home from the Applicants' place of business, a warning light lumingtod- -
“and the car stalled repeatediy; Consumer O called Mr. Mahmoodi and he asked herto,
bring the car back. The next day, the car shut down totally, Consumer O could not.
" afford an estroated $400.00 to tow the vehicle to Canadian Best Auto so it was towed
10 a Jocal mechanio. The mechenic stated that the car was not safe: Therg was no air
filtgr, the tires were bald and the muifier was rusted, With respect to the anqine light,
- tha machanic agvised that there was a crankshaft sensor problem. The total amount
" for towage, inspection and repairs was $476.00. Tha ingpection showad two bald front.
" ires, IWo rear now tiras, a badly rustad muffler, the right sida floor badly rusted and..-
‘wiper bladeg In nead replacament. i3 - o S RN

As a cansequenca of the nasd to pay for these repalrs, Congumer O had [nsufficient. -
funds to pay for the $500 deposit cheque when It wae presented to hier bank for
. payrient. In’ her discussions. with. MF. Mahmoodi, she advised him of this fact and
. asked him not to deposit i, Mr. Mahmoodi ignored that request and the theque was . -
- subseguently dishonoured by the bank, - - - e

 Consurier O's olher dealings with Mr. Mahmoodi ware penerally uhsatisfactory. .
"~ Following her iniliaf contaci concerting the engine light, Consumer O contacted Mr.
. Mahmaodi on the day lhe vehivle was lowed Lo the loca) garage. He was at an auction
- 80 he stated he could not deal with her. Siibsequently, Cansumer Q made calls that
went unanswered. At one point, Mr. Mahmoaodi threatened to call the police if
Gonsumer O called again. Gonsumer O contacted OMVIG and dealt with Justin Brown.

PAGE 12/43 ~ RCVD AT S/29/2012 1:33:15 PM [E astern Dayilght Time) = SVR:OMVICEAX-B/A ~ DNISI7S6 CSID:416 325 5217 = DUF .~

138x 12



MAY 29 2@l2 13:39 FR LAT

L Justin Brown testifled in his capacity as the

12

. Consumer O was Informad by Mr. Brown that the Applicants would hatcaoperale and
© -+ had threatenad to put a lien on the vehicle for the installation of tinted glass and an AEARREOE
" élarm at a cost of $500.00, Subsequently, the Applicants filsd a lien for §750.00. The

. Tribunal I8 unaware of the status of the fien.

“Consumar 0 .'Sl.atiad'l_ﬁat:

is et out in the "Third Party Warranty”

- Consumer Q's complaint. 14 Consumar O contacted Mr. Brown in tears s & result of

her experience with Iha Applicants. He contacted Mr. Mabmoodi to discuss the

- Sltuation. Mr. Brown staled. that Mr. Mahricodi was vary unprofessional in his

- description of Consumer O, using
.+ "Crook" and “a garhage custormior.” M
~ tothis vehicle was stamped: “Pleage
lights or any electrical problerns after deiivary.”15 Whila My,
stamp with the Applicant, he advised the Applicant that he ¢
. nbligationg under the Act ahd fegulatione or under the CPA. -

Brown dld not discuss this

- Mr. Brown advised the Tribunal hat, In the end, he was unable 1o resolvo this
complaint since the Applicants wera not pre

paredto take any steps to compensate the -

consumer, The Applicants placed a lieh in the amount of $600,00 on the vohicle and -

. puf the mdtter into the hands of a ¢ollgetio
- out in e bill of sale, it was Mr. ‘Brown's evidence that he was advisod by Mr.
.. Mahmoodi that the warranty was thrown into

Applicants would not submit tha warranty 1o the warranty company. - . ;

In testifying coricerning Gonsurmer O's complaint, Mr. Mahmoodi canfirmed that e had

placed a flen on the vehioic for unpald invoices, According to him, the first time he

deait with Consumer Q foliowing the sate of lhg
returned from the bank dishonoured. He called he
him 1hat sha had hud' to do' $200.00 worth of re

vehicic was when her cheyue was'
r to ask her about it and she advised

- Outstanding $500.00 owing. She was to hring the money the next day. The next day’
Goneumer Q acvised him that she had incurrad another $300,00 repair and towing
cost and refused to make any further payment. He told her that she was obliged to
honour the $500.00 cheque and that he would seek to anforce his rights. Ta the best
of his recollection, there is still a fien on the vehicle and he has not been paid.

Jessica Larrea testified In her capacity as a complaints handiler at OMVIG. She was a

14 His notes and back-up dodimentation arc found ul Fx FTab 70
15BEx 0

415 325 5217 TO 84165123758 .

_ she thought that she had a power train warranty. Exhibil 10, - _

. Consumer O's bill of sale; states cleardy that she has & 24 month, 24,000km Autogard - * -
o warranty with the words “Powcr Train” entered bylow the time and milsage delails, No -

. Separate amaunt {0 be charged for the warranty _ SR

..+ section of the bill of sale. Consumer O stated (hal whon ghe contacted Autagard she -
. wad told that na wairanty existed for this vehicle, .« oo o

OMVIC Commplaints Handler who handled
racial and saxist epithets and referring to heras a

. Mahmaodi advised that the bill of sale relating
Noto that the dealer is riot responsible for engine 5

ould notceontractout of his ™

n agency. With respect o the warranty set

the deal wilhout charge and the

_ paire. Aftar some discussions, Mr. .
Mahmoadi stated that he agreed to parmit Corisumar O to deduct $200.00 from tho -

.13
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complaints handler for four years until leaving OMVIC 'and'movintj io her present
posilion in lhe insurance Industly She dealf with the cornplalnt of Consumer R.16

‘Ms | area was contacted by Gonsumer R on July 28, 2010. He advised her that hu
had attended at the Applicants' pigimisesy, lhen ocuted at 4544 Dufferin Streal, and
had seen a 002 Acura MDX that caught his interest. He provided a credit card deposit

- of $475.00 but he signed no coantract and was not given a bill of sale relating to the

vehicle. He discovered that the vehicle had more miles than he had been led to believe
and wanted his deposit back. Ms Larrea advised Coisumer R aboul the provisions of
5: 39 of O/Reg 333/0817 and told him to write a letter to the Applicants asking for the

" retum of his deposit: Subsequently, the consumer provided her with a copy of a letter

dated August 12, 2010 and sent 1o the Dulferin Streel address by registered mail. It

" was not picked up by the Applicants. The consumer then. determined that the
Applicants had moved to 1290 Finch Avenue West and rasent the letter ta tha new
address on August 23. Again it was not picked up by the Applucants

On Septamber 3, 2010, Ms Larrea called Mr. Mahmoodl about Consumer R's
complaint, Initially, Mr. Mahmaodi said that he cauld not recall the transaction. He later
stated that there was no contract with Consumer R butthat he had a signed credit card
slip. Finally, he stated that there was a signed contract. Ms Larrea asked Mr,
Mahmoadi to forward a copy of the signed contract. Mr. Mahmoodi asked that ahe put
her request in writing. Ms Larrea sent 4 long emeil that day and on September 7
receivead an email with an attachad credit cord shp and a bill of sale purportediy signed
by Consumer R.

Whan Mg Larrea Informed Consumer R that zhe was in posaession of a bill of sale
purportadiy signed by him, ha adamantly denied signing anything other than the credit
card slip, She advigod him that he might want to pursue the matter with the police and
that he might have civil romedies. She aiso asked him to forward copies of his
signature for comparison, He did g the nextday. 18 Me Larrea advised Mr. Mahmoodi
lhat Consumer R denied signing the blll of saie. Mr, Mahmoodi repeatedly accused
Consumer R of lying and used dorogatory terms. Ms Larroa advised him that the use
of such terms was unprotassional. He refused to resolve the matter beecause he had
been accused of forgerny.

One of the documents that Ms Larrea requasted from Mr. Mahmicodi was the
wholesale bill of sale relating to the purchase of the Acura. The Tribunal notes the
fallowing points relating lo this docurnent, While the numtiers are hard o read, it
appears to Indicate that the vehicle was purchased by the Applicants at auction for
$8,500.00 plus taxes, adjustmenls and auction fees. The bill of sale19 purportedly

16 Fx 6 Tuh 9

17 There wns gomae ¢onfusion in Ms Larrea’s evidence about whether she was referiing to scotions of the Act
ur the Tegniations, She had & wendency 1o state that cited provigione were in the Act but on further review it
appeared that she referred to the cegulations,

1R Bx 6 paps 73

19 Ex 6 pagp 16

14
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signed by Gonsumer R waa for sale price of $7,500.00 plus taxes and adjustmants.

Tho vohicle was ultimately £0kd fOr'a sale pticc'of $10,750.00,20 Consumer K was not
rapaid hig deposit ag, in a lstter to OMVIC,21 the Applicants claumed $508.60 in

‘reconditioning cost and other damages.” It is difficult for the Tribunal to understand

whut regonditoning might bo neceseary after & 16 minuto teet drive, In the lettar -
agvising of the sale of the vehicle dated October 28, 201022 the Appllcants lndlcated_

they had made a refund ol‘ﬁar 1 Conaumer Ft but he wrned it down.

Of nota on lo lhe twu bills of sa|923 with reaSpect to Consurnor A's Vehlcle Is the fact

that neithar of hern indigates any damage history, In his evidence, Mr. Maiorana:

produced a CarProol report run by the Applicants on this vehicle on June 9, 2010 at
12:12 p.m. that indlicales that the vehicle had sustained $3,756.00 worth of damage on
June 16, 2007.24

Ms Larrea addressed two othet consumer complaints, Consumers P and Q). In both

cases, aftar the initial complaint was made to OMVIC the consumers did not sign the
appraopriate autharization and there was no further action on lhese two files, Ms Larrea
was unaware if these matters were resolved to the salisfaction of the cansumers. [t
was put to Ms Larrea in cross-examinalion hal Consumer Q's vehicle was sold ore an
"ag is” basia. Ma Larrea responded that a vehicle sold on an “as is” basis cannct come

with a safety centificate. If a vehicle is sold with a safety certificate, it must carry the'

statutory warranties.

Consumer R testificd about hia expenence with the Applicanta. He has a Masters'

degree in Computer Science and is experienced in working in UNIX based aystema.
He was iboking for an Acure SUV in the $9,000.00 to $10,000.00 range. While
searching the Internat he found an advertisament for Canadian Best Auto and decided

to attend thair showroom on Dulferin Strest, He met with Me. Mahmoodi who indicated:

that thera were two Acura MDX vehicles available and invited him fo inspect them. He
gpent about 30 minutes inspecting the two vehicles including stariing the engines. He
than talkad to Mr. Mahmoodl about tha black ong. He wantad to do a test drive. Mr.
Mahmoodi stated that ha and Consumer R were “brothers” and that Consumer R could
du « test drive the next day. Mr. Mahmoodi asked for & deposit promiging that he
would return if it Consumer R was not satsfiad with the vehicle after a test drive.
Consumer R offered (o give the Applicants a cheque but was prevailed upon to pay by
credit card. No price was agreed for the vehicle and no blll of sale was prapared,

Consumer R returned the next day. The car was cutside. Ha 100K it for 5 tast drive for

20 Ex & page 20

71 Bx 6 Tab % page 30

22 Ex 6 pagc 30

21 Fx & pages 16 and 29 regpectively
24 Ex 35

.15
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10-15 minutes but was dissafisfied with it. He staled thal the tires and stesring were
noisy. He returned to the dealarship, informed Mr. Mahmoodi that he did not want the
oar but wanted his money back. Mr. Mahmoodi refused Lo return tha money. A yelling
match ensued and there were threats to call the police. Consumer R did call the police
who referred him to OMVIC. Thereafter he deall wilh OMVIC. :

On the advice of Mg Larrea, Consumar R sent two registered letlers, one (o the

Duffetin Stroct address of the Apphzants where he had first seen the vehichs dnd a
geeond to the Applicants new premises on Finch Avanue Wesl. Neilher letter was
picked up by the Applicants. Altar reaeiving the bill of sale purpurtedly signed by him
and regognizing that it was a forgery, Consumer R took the documents to the police - -
station. Tho police adviaed him to seek his remedy through QOMVIC. That advice was
repeatad when he had a tollow up telephone call fram a palice officar a couple of days

latar.

With respect to his signature, Consumer H stated that he uses his initials on things like
credit card transactions but uses his full signature on what he considers to be lagal
documents. He includad the bill of sale in “legal docurments.” He pointed out that the
bill of sale has initials only and is nothing like hig full signature. He alsn stated that,
contrary to lhe assertion In the Ootober 2§ loticr that he had been offered a refund: the
Applicants had never atfered him a refund. He did say that the Applicants offered him
a credit if he bought anothar vahlgle from thom,

Mr. Mahmaadi's evidence regarding Congumer R dotailed only one visit, According the
Mr. Mahmoaodi, al thal visit, Consumer R had test driven the vohicle and wanted to buy
It. A price was negotiated; Consumer R signed the bilf of salc ang provided a $475.00
depasit. At this point, the Applicants began 10 Incur expanses because the car was
sent for a safety check, Shortly thereafter, Consumer R got cold foet and saw another
vehicle at anather dealer. Being aware that there i ho coaling off penad in used car
transactions in Ontario, the Applicants insistad in charging liquidated damages.

Consumer W gave evidence concerming her experience purchaging a 2005 BMW X3,
When Consumer W dealt with the Applicants they were Iocated at “Keele and
Finch."25 She visited the dealership on a couple of vecasions eveniually zsrolng fn on
a BMW X8. She discussed the purchase with Mr, Mahmoodi and was assurad by him
that he would look efter any prablams with the vehicle aller purchasa, She tost drove
the vehiclo, decided fo buy it and picked it up on June 20, 2011, Within a eouple of
daye, she began 1o experience prohlems. On June 22, she look it to a mechanic who
identified problems with the left GV boot, the driveshatt, the tire pressure light and the
two tront shocks. She spoke to Mr. Mahmoadi on June 23. He asked her to bring it to
Bell Auto. Bell Autc identified the problem with the drivashalt and Mr. Mahmoodi

undertook to repalr that problem becauae It was related to tha safety inspection. He
declined ail other repairs.

On June 29 lhe sunroof doveloped problems. it would not clase. Consumer W

2.5 Presumnahly rhis s the 1290 Finch address

418 325 5217 TO 941685123758
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discussed the problem with Mr. Mahroodi. He told her 1o bring the vehicle back toBell . -
Auto who then referred har to an electrical specialist, In the intarim, a problem withi the. -
fucl gouge was ldentified. Roth the sunrdol problerm and the fugl gauge probiem word.

~ ohecked. by the electrical. specialist.” The cost. of repalr- for the gsunroof was
- approximately $3,000.00. M. Mahmoodi refused carry out the repalre on tho basis of

his belief that his warranty was limited to the 36 day/1000 km warranty set outinthe = -
- Bafely cenificate. He. took the pasition thal the sunroof problem was cauged by "~ ..
. Consurmor W "continualiy playlng” with the suniooly He threateried Consumer W that if
- - 8he sought the assistance of OMVIC he would consider suing her.26 As ofthe date of .
the hearing, thé front shooks have net been raplaced, the fugl gauyd is still defective

- and the sunreof does not close properly letting water into the vehicle on wet days.

~“Attha ooholusion of her testimony and throlghout her cross-exarmination Consumer W
rapeated that Mr, Mahmaadi had promised to deal with any problems with the ¢ar that
came 10 light after purchase. She is of the view thal he way aware of the problomeg with .

the vehigle and was dishonest with her to induce her 1o buy.

In addressing Coneuner W during his evidance, Mr. Mabmoodi stated’ tiat his.
dealings with Consumer W werc always friendly. Her spoiise was often aggressive and

confrontational with him. When problems arose, hie asked Consumer W to take the
vehicle to his mechanic, Ball Auto, Bell Auto identified some safety conceins which’
they described as borderiine. Mr. Mahmaodi inatructed them o repair them at a cost lo
him of $500-700.00. The mechanic advised him that there was no problem with the
fuel gauge. The issui with the sun roof was beyond the Bell Auto méechanic's experise
s0 it was suggested that the consumer take the vehicle to a machanic who was more”
familiar with eleclrical issues or to BMW. This electrical system mechanic stated that it

would- cost $3000.00 to fiX the sun roof. The roof could be closed for $150.00 but .
Gonsumer W did nol want that. In any event, in its current ¢ondition the roof did nat -

teak. According lo Mr. Mahmoodl, the elactrical systom mechanic stated that the-

problem arose because Consumer W had played with the sun roof and the BMW X3

sun roof is sensitive, Mr. Mabmood! stated that he had socn Consumer W play with
the sun roof a couple of time in the showroom. He did not teel that he was liable to
repair something brought about by the consumer's misuse of the car.

Farah Mohammed is clrrently 4 Business Standards Roprésentative st OMVIC butat -

all material imes she was a Complaints Handler, She addresszed issues arising out of
the purchase of a vehicle by Consumar L on May 21, 2010. Consumer L gdvised her

that he had put down a $500.00 deposit on a 2003 BMW 328/ car, The balance was o -

be financed by the Applicant. Consumer L wanteg to sat aside the transaction and
havo his deposited refunded because the financing terms continued to ¢hange. The
end result was a refund of $250.00 to Consumer L but what concerncd Ms
Mahammed wore the deficiencies on the bill of sule.27

The two areas of concern with the bill of sale ralate to the failure of the Applicants to

J6 Ex 15, Tab 5 A page 77
27 Ex % Tab L page (0¥
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. complata the finahsing terms parl of the bill of eale and the failure of the bill of':sale"_to: e

- Indicate the accident history of the vehicle, - -

- - Aceording the Ms Mohammed, a selling dealer iy reguirad 10 make full disclesure ot -~ .
. the finangcing tarms, On the standard form bill of sale thera Is an areamarked ‘Termg =~ " -

. Ut Financing” that has. boxes: entitled "Amoun!. of payments,” “No. of Fayments,” =~
- "Paymente Stant on” and “Credit Approval™ Below those boxes 15.a section which .-

- states "Customer has received financing disclosure Stateient from the Lending .
000 Institution.” Finally, there Is a'space for the purchaser's initiale, Urider tho "Terms'of === =
© o Settlement': column. on the Tight side of a standard bill of sale therc are lingentry

. spaces for “Balance Financed Subject to Approval,” "Net Amount to be Financeg'and =~ "’
-..."Cost of Borrowing %,” On Consumer L's bill of sale all of these areas have beenlett -
- Llank. The only rcference to financing on the bill of sala Is a handwtten antty n the: - -
- “Cormmignis saction that states; *8 monthly paymenis should be mandged up to $370: . -
- permionth,” Ms Mofiammed referred to s. 40 (1) of O/Reg 333/08 which Incorporates s.
79 uf the 'CPA by reference, in her view; the Applicants were in breach of theso

o provisions by falling to complete the financing disclosure areus on the bill of salc.

- In preparation. for appedring as. 8 witness in this hearing, Ms Mohammeéd: ran a o
.+ GarProf report.28 She noted that the CarProaf indicated ihat tie vehicls had besnin -
. two accidents: one in November 2004 costing $1,132.00 to repair and one In-April
- 2007 easting $5,143.00 to repair; Ma Mohammed poirted out that (he bill of sale was - - .
.- gilent as to the accidunt history. She further statad that Corisurer L ad audvised har ~
- that he had been promised a Car Fax report and that the advertissment placedin Auto =~
. Trader by the Applicants indicated that the vehicie came with a CarProof report. On - =
. May 26, 2010 Consumar L emailed the Intemet. link for the Advertisement to Ms - 1
- Mohammed wilh lhe comment: “You ean see by the picture: below thiat he g

- advertised carproof [sic] but did not provide it. Alsa car is not spoit version which he
adventise [sic]. 29 Unlorlunately the picture refarrad to was notincluded in the inaterials
available to the Tribunal. On June 4, 2010 Gonsumer L expanded on the issue of the

- CarProof report. He' slated in an email datad that day3Q that Mr. Mahimaadi had

-+ demanded $45.00 from hit if he wantad to sae the CarProof report and he wauld be

. raquired to pay $100.00 i the report ndicated no damage. -

Atthe request of the Applicants, Ms Moharninad was recalled 1o the stand to addiess:

~her testimony that, despite requests. ol the: Appilcants, the Applicants had never -
forwarded to her & copy of the CarProofl report indlcating that there was no damaga

~ - history on Gonsumer L's vehicle. On her recall to the stand, Ma Mohammed testified
- that she had conducted a fuller search of the OMVIC cormputer system and found that

- a CarProof had boan faxed by the Applicants to. OMVIC on Jung 3, 2010 to the
- allention of “Sara.” Untit'she tusned it up on the system in her recent search, she had
- never seen the document. She noted that nol only was the report diracted to Sara’s
attention; and OMVIC had no-one called Sara working fur them ai that time, it related-

CWEx20
29 Ea 5. Tuh 1. page 190 -
30Ex5TobLpage 194 .=
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o a vahicla other than that which was the subject of Consumer.'s complaint, Because: - -
" the complaint settled rd Ms Mohammed closed the file shortly after June 3, 2010, '
she did not follow up with the Applicants to find out why the documents she requested
= 'were net forthcoming. - S R R T T T R

L MS._MOh'azm'm_éd went on to Teview “a bafF‘rmf ._r_'ep’nf‘t that_s.s”l"}e:'_.ha'd'dl’de"r'ed_.-:p'n T
' september 30, 2011 indicating accident damage to the Cansumer L vehicle thatwas . -

not disciosed on the bill of sale. There ware iwo accidents; one in 2004 for §1,132,00 S

. "and ona in 2007 In the amount of $5,143.00. She fell that these accidents should have. . -

been ‘disclosed on. the  CarProot report. recently provided to. OMVIC. by the -
- Applicants31 during this proceeding and had na axplanation why they were not, She T
- did rioté ihal the dale of the CarProof report provided by tha Applicants af Tab 9post: -~ .
daled Corisumer L's bill of sale by approximately ane manth. .- 0 o e L

The difference betweaen the data on the OMVIC CarPraof report dated September 30;-
2011 and the Applicants! CarProof report dated June 9, 2010 was covered in the.
testimony of Panl Malarana. All three CarProof reports run by Ms. Maiorana ware
dated oh June 8, 2010 at 12:12, Mr, Maiorana peinted out that the Geriroof systcm
parmits dealers to conduct multiple searches at one time. Dealers may enter a bateh
search of up to 20 VINa and each sgdreh report will then be stamped with the eameo
iime anid date: Accordingly, the three searches canducted by the Applicants on.june 8,
2010 were patt of such a batch search. Therg arg two gescntial differencas botween -
" the OMVIG report and the Apphicants’. In the chronology gection, entitled “Combined
.. Ganadian & United States History Details” therg is an entry for November 1, 2004.In .
“the version provided by the Applicants t OMVIC during the hearingd2, that section.
reads “ingurance records” and "New Policy.” Therc is a similar-antry dated April 26,
2007, On the next page in Section 8 entltled “Canadian Accident and Collision-
© Estimate Data” there are two boxes entitled "Accident Data” and "Coverago Data" -
" The Accident Dato box indicates no records, Acsarding. to Mr. Maiorana that box
velates lo insurance estimatc records. Ho desoribed the CarProof template and
- pointed out that there should be a third box entilled "Accidant Incidencas” that records
~ accident information found in the data. If no accidents are found in the data, that box
will stata “No Records” but the box should, nonetheless, be there.. - SRR

.. The report produced by Mr. Malorana trom the CarProof archivesad has different
entries; With respect to the November 1, 2004 entry, the Carproof reporis states

. "Ingurance Raoords” and "Accldent Clalm” and the April 2§, 2007 enlry also notes an

© - uAgoident Claim.” The Acgident Incldances box on the next page shuws lwo accldents: - -
one in the amount of $1,132.00 on November 1, 2004 and one [n e amount of =
$5,14:3.00 on April 26, 2007 as shown on the report obtained by OMVIC In September .
2011. Mr. Maiorana testiflad that it Is clear that the original report has been tamperecd

31 Ex 24 (ub 8 & 9 respuutively

A Ex 21 Tab Y L o o - . o

33 Eas 34 and 36, Both éabibils cotlain Ui san data which is frozen when the nepert is campleto. CarProof
hae changed its preseniation template and Ex 34 15 an atierpt to rearente the old presatiation lemplate Fx 36
bty (e niew Leropluic. . : . . . S o
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- With using a compilter prograim like Photoshop or an Adabe edifing program. in fagt,
“U- M. Maicrana stated that each CarProof report constitutes its own website so the -

" original on the CarProof site may ba exam:ned by a thlrcl party purchaser |f tampermg
Is su.;pected :

o _'The next congumar’ w;tness (..onsumcr X, prcscntcd sonous challengcs for the

. Tribunal. He wae not a highly educated ran and providod for his family by delivering - .

. pizza in the winter and working picking vogotablos in the sUmmor. ftwould ba falrto” © - o
- say thai he was deeply offended by the manner in which he feit he had been treated: - -.°

- by the Applicants and anewerad to questions from tha Applicants’ legal reprosontative

- with an excess of passion unusual in the staid surroundingg of a formal hearing.
Notwithstanding that passion , tha Tribunal found Congumer X 1o be & highly pringipied . =~ -
individual whio was truthful in his evidence tonicarning his dealings with the Appllcants. -

Gonsumer X purchiased & 2002 Honda Civic from the Applioants In oF around July 2,

L P01 He saw an advertisement in Auto Trader, He telephohied and spoke to Mr.

Mahmoodi who fold him to come up fo their premises. In” discusgions with Mr, -
Mabmoodi, Mi. Mahmoodi said he was Brazilian and had been in the car businass for -
years. Consumer X is a Portuguese speaker 50 presurnably the représentation aboul
. baing Rrazilian was an attempl (o develop sume luvel of rapport, Consumer X informad

- Mr. Mahmoodi that he needed a reliable cir to last for about six months: He was

shown a Honda Civic. Bacause of the lrust he had reposed in the Applicants, he did

notiest drive the car. The Applicant filled out the bill of sale gnd Consurer X signed it
The purchase price for the car was $4,240.00. Consumer X was nol given a copy ol

the bili of sale. He was told by Mr. Mahmondi that ha would be given all the documents

“on the morrow when he picked up the car. Consumear X's son paid a deposul with a
o bank card leaving a balance to be pmd on delwery of $’~1,900 DO : '

Ccnuurncr X dld not return to pmk the car up ior two days ! ie brough’t cash with hlm
for the outstanding balance. He stated that Mr. Mahmoodi had asked him to bring:

. tdeh. Me was told the bilt ot sale and other documents were in the console. He.
.. checkad later and determined that there was no bill of sale. Nor did he evar get ane.

- On the drive home, about 100 metres from the Applicants’ premisas, warning lights
came on. He turned around and took the car back to the premises and asked Mr,
- - Mahmaodi 1o deal with 1. M. Mahmoodi told him to take the car home and he would
. deal with it the next day. On the drive home, the car wolild not go tastor than 40 km/ht.

A frlend told him he had been sold “a car without transmission.” He contacted Mr..
- Mahmaoaod| the next day and was told that all of his documents ware in the console.. - -

“When he checked there wera rio documents In the congole. He took the car back to
the Applicanls' prermises. Mr, Mahmoodl tried 10 £ail him 2 warranty, He told Consumer
X that he could replace the engine but It wauld cost $800.00. At this point, Consumer
X’'s san, who had accompanied him, sald that every time they talk with the Applicants,
ihe Applicants wanl money so thaey should leave. Consumer X asked for hls money

back, but Mr. Mahmoodi would only pay back $3,650.00. Mr. Mahmoodi sald the - -

balance was for taxes. In frustration, Consumer X took the $3,850.00 und deposited

the cheque. As a condition of being paid the cheque, Consumer X signed a release

416 825 5217 TO 94185123758,
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- saying he was satistied with
for the balance. Mr. Makm
 more money. PO

the refund. He told the Applicants that he would sué inem
odi told him ks go ahead and do so and he would get cven

This exchange was not the end of Consumer X
retund for the licence plate, he got only $40.0

. $160.00. Two duys later, Consumer X reca
purperting to be & pollce offigor,
Mahmoodi masquerading as & po

.- caltioned Consumei X agalnst
- Was not diplomatic on the pho

'a problems. Whan he went 1o get 4 L

0 despite having paid the Applicants e :
ved a teicphone call fiom a parson. . . -
Consumer X thought tho celler was a friend of M~

lice officer and dealt with him accardingly. The callar
making death lhreats to Mr, Mahmoodi. Cansumer X.

ne because hé thought the cilier was a friend of thg = - =
_ Applicanta so;, approxitataiy ong hour later; the pollce attended his homa and arestad
- him for making' death threats. He spent faur hours at the police station and was

interrogated and subsequently chargad, He has been afrald of the Applicants since

that ume but he still fes!s he is owad a ful] refund of the cutstanding $550.00. He is of -

the oplnion that there was no justification for the Applicants taking $550.00 af his

money.

Mr. Mahmood! stated that when Consumer X brought the vehicle back to hitm, he -
offered immediately to have the transmission thecked out by a maghanic. He stated
that if the trangmission praved defective he advised Consumer X that ha would refund
all of his money. Consumer X declined the offer, choosing instead the sit on the floor
wailing that he was being chealed and pulling his hair out. Consumaer X finaity
accepled an offer tor a partial refuny and, once the cheque was cashed, asked for the
kalance. He made the threat to pit Mr. Mahmoodi In & body bag. Mr. Mahmoodi was
concerned, not for hig personal safely, but for the condition of his inverntory. He was
afrald Consumer X would come back and damage the cars. He called the polige, The

police used Mr. Mahmoodi'g phone to call Consumer X and when tie repaated ihe
“threats an the phone they went and charged him,

Sayed Mohammed Huescin Pishvai is 4 motor vehiclo salesperson and owns a
dealership called Autowholesale Cars R Us Inc. {(*Cars R Us") in Richmand Mill, Ho
tostified concerning his dealings with the Applicant, Mr, Mahmoadi, during a periad of
several weeks when Mr. Mahmoodi acted as a salesperson at Cars R t1s, He parted
company with the Applicant atter n few weaks and notified OMVIC on September 23,

2

011 that ho terminated the retationship because of "top many complain [sic] hom
customners/lack of trust™34 His evidence expanded on that commant.

Mr. Pishvai has operated Cars R Us
comingn involvament in the inclustry.
He decided that he and the Appligant
whereby the Applicant would sgll ca
remaining Canadian Best Auto
register the Applicant a3 a sala

singe 2003. He met the Applicant through their
They would see each other at the car auctions.
could work tagether so an agreement was made
rs for Cars R Us and would also dispose of the
inventory of cars on consignment. The paperwork to
sperson for Cars R Us was daled August 8, 2010 and

- F29 F =1 2T ight - =RV A - 37 = 5217 ™~ DUER
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‘raceivad by omvic cn'A'ug'u'SI'm.Ss Accompanying the Salesber'son Change Notice .

was a letter written by the Applicunt and signed by Mr. Pishvai to the effect that Mr.
Pishvai was aware the Applicant would be selling for both Cars R Us and Canadian
Buesl Auly. S : S . S o

" According to Mi. Pishvai, Mr. Mahmoodi worked for Cars R Us for-a period of - - ©
“approximataly three weeks in August, 2011. The registration documentation suggests.

that Mr. Mahmondi was registerer tor the period fram August 10, 201 1te September”. -

23, 2011 but it would appear that thera were sales involving the Applicanton August 8,

‘2011 and ho sales transactions after August 29, 2011_ The Tribunal Is safisfied thet
this period reflects Mr. Mahmondi's active involvement with Cars Als.. = :

M. Pishvai's complaints against Mr. Mahimondi fall into four categories. Aceording to

Mr. Pishvai, Mr. Mahmoodi forged Mr. Pishval's signature on a number of billa of sale,
signing the confract with the name "Amir’ as deaier and inserting Mr. Fishval's
registration details. Amir was the name that Mr. Pishvai used, as a nickname, with
friends and associates, but in his business dealings aiways signed his namg “S.
Pishval." I 12 apoke to Mr. Mahmoodi and advised him in no uncertain terms not to sigh

as dealer. Despite this waming, Mr. Mahmoodi forged his signature on at least one .

subacquent accasion.

The second broad category arose out of the agréement that the Applicants’ cars would
be sold on consignment. Mr. Pishval stated that Cars R Us bore the expense of
advertising the vehicles and had them available for showing on lte lot. In retum for this
service, salas were to be conducted through Cars R Us and the profits from the sale of
the vehicles were 1o be split equally. Me. Pishval stated that the Applicants sold
vehicles without his knowledge and did not give him a share of the procgads, The

Applicants’ practice in this regard carme to light when ha raceived a complaint froma

custornsr that a vehicle wag defective. He reviewed tha sales documentation and
noted that the bill of sale was a Canadian Bast Auto Involee. He told the consumer
that, as ha had not sold tha vehicle, he was not rasponsible for any defecis. The
customer was in tears.

Mr. Pistivai diid accept responsibility for promises made by Mr, Mahmoodi averi on bills

of vale where his signature was forged. He considered himself bound by the actions of

Mr. Mahmoodi, One example involved hie sale of & Landrover on August 11. Mr.
Mahmoodi had sigred Lhis bill of sale and provided for a 24 month or 24,000km Autt

Qard power train warranty up to the amount of $8,000.00. Mr. Pishvai testified that. .

such a warranty does not exist, Mi. Mahmood; had signed this bill of sale using “Amir.”

When Mr. Pishvai learned the details of the transaction he asked Mr. Mahmeodi to
contact the customer and change the warranty terms. When M, Mahmoodi was
unable to change the warranty provisions, Mr. Pishvai accepted that he was liable.
When the customer came back with problems three days later, Mr. Pishvai signed the
documnent over the "Amir” signature and tock the car back. He had to put a new engine
in the car before he oould sell it again for a logs of about §4,000,00.

35 Ex 16 Tap 9 pago 65
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Mr. Pishvai was concemad abiout Mr. Mahimood's failure to make full disclosure of
problems with vehicles. In one transaction, Mr. Mahmoodl sold a Mercedes but failed
w discloga that the vehicle had been Imported from the US

A former customer of the Appl:cams had puuchased a Porsche Boxter from the
Applicants in the winter or spring of 2011. The vehicle hada damage history that Mr. -

Mahmeandi was well aware of from the earligr sale, The custamer attended Cars R Us

" and wanted ta purchase a newcar using the Boxler as a trade-in. Mr. Mahmoodi gave

$10,000.00 trade-in allowance far the Boxter despite the fact that it was warth -
approximately $6,000.00 because of its damage histary. He also failed to raote the
damage history of the vehicle an the trade-in bill of sale despite the fact he wag aware
of it and had noted it on the bill of sale when he had previaisly sold the car. The

oustomer purchazed an Audi. When prishlems arose with the Audi, Mr. Mahmoadi
adviaed the customer to report Mr. Pishvai to OMVIC, write a letter demanding a new
engine and to sue. The customer recorded the telephone conversation and playeditin
full to Mr. Pishvai. At this point, Mr, Pishvai dacided he had had enough from Mr.
Mahmioodi ang the employmeont relationship was terminated.

Mr. Mahmoodl admitted that he sold for Cars R Us during the timo sot gUt above. He
also admitted that, during that time, he had not rageived registration frormn GWMVIC to
act a salesparson tor Cars R Us. He had applicd for ragistration and had received a
response from OMVIC gtating that there wore dafects in hig application, He was of the
view that he could sgll for Cars R Us pending registration. Whan the relationship broke

down, he notifled QMVIC not to finish processing the transfer application, in light of

this admission, the Tribunal will not raview the evidence of OMVIC e witnass, Mg Lisa
Ellis, who provessead the application,

The balance of Mr. Mahmoudi's evidence congeming his dealings with Mr. Pishvai

focused an establishing grounds to make Mr. Pishvai responsible for Mr. Mabmoodi's
actions and on suggesting thal Mr. Pishvai was not a reliable witness because of
ongoing small claima court litigation between the parties, He related a tale of acrimony
between the paities and alluded to threats madse against him by Mr. Pishvai. He

produced screenshots from three text messages sent by Mr. Pishvai to support the

threat allegations.368 On raview, the Tribunal cannot conclude that any of the
mes3ages Indicates a particular threat, At the highest, they seem to say that Mr.
Pishvai will not saek to pursue Mr. Mahmaadi unless the latter starts a legal action,
although the languege used is somewhal colourful and unprofassional.

Mr. Mahmoodi stated that the $8000 warranty was a mistake, The intention was to put
In $800.00. Thiz stands in ¢ontrast to Mr. Pishvai'a evidence that Mr. Mahmoodi told
him that the warranty was necessary to complete the sale. Mr. Mahmoodi testified
further that Mr, Plghvai hired him to run the deaicrship because he was away pursuing
real astate business, Mr. Mahmoodi stated that he was authorized to gign Mr. Pishval's
signature to complete transactions.

36 Fx 25

P.
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' Consumer Z testified abiout her experierices in purchasing & 2004 Mazda 3 from the

Applicants, Sha itved close lo the Applicants’ Finch Avenue address and droppedinto. .

" look atears: Shie discussed with Mr. Mahmoodi that she was looking for a nice vehicle
within her budgst. She was initially interested in a Henda but the car sold before she

" was prepared 0 miake & depuosil. 3he then saw the Mazda in the showroom. On her: ..
- third visiton July 21, 2011, she paid a deposit of §1,000.00, She was not givenablliof
- gale. She paid a further depasil of $500.00 on July 22,2011, Again she was notglven:
. a bl of sale. She arranged [or financing of the halance with the Applicants atarate: - -
. $280,00 aid inlevest of 15% par anniim or below. She picked the vehiclo up onJuly -
- 25, 2011, Agai 'she was not given a bill of sale. Indeed, she did not raceive ablliof -
sale unlit August 8 after sha made further demarids.37: That copy was not signed by - U
e Applicants.. The hili of sale also contained. no dotails about the: financing - -

agreement. . -

Shortly after purchasing the vehicle, Consumer Z:bc'gan 10 have problems. A hub cap '

came off in traffic on the second day she had it. Another was missing. She noted
scratches 6n the windshietd and rust $pots. She acknowledgad In her testirnuny that
ahe had the chance to inspact the vehicle at the dealarghip and that she did not avall
herself of & teat drive, She was aware she could have asked for a test drive. She was

upset because of the trust she reposed in Mr. Mahmoodl and felt that il was his

reaponsibility t6 peoint out the dofocte to her..

Bhe exparienced mechanical problem's with the vehicle too. As the weather ¢ooled,

she discovered the heator did not work, Two machanics infurmed her that she had
suspension problems: One put hig findings in writing, roting also problems with the

thermastat, Goolant of songor and a loose brake pad at the rear.38 She took these .-
various problems back 10 the Applicants, She daalt with 4 person called Ryan at the-

Applicants’ promiges who told her that alt of the problems could be fixart and advised

hor to talk to Mr, Mahmoodi. $he was unable to get In touch with him so she had-

turthor dealings with Ryan. Sha was Informed that repairs would be at her expense.
She was dissatisfiad with thig answer, teeling these were pre-existing problems that
should be the rasponsibility of the Applicanis. Finally, in November she decided she

did not want the car any more, She entered inlo an agreement with Ryan that he would
raturn the post-dated cheques given lor the loan payment and $650.00 and she would
transtar the car to his coripany. She was ultimately out of pockst $1,690,00. The

vehicle would have cost $1,000.00 to repair. .

Mr: Mahmoodi described how Consimer Z came to his dealership to buy tha vehicle,

On her three visils o his dealership prior to purchase, she came once with a mals
friend und once wilh her molher. He falt he developed a very good relationship with
Consumer Z and her mother. She had ample time to inspect the car and did 80 with

her mother. Both of them likad it. He was surprised to find out later that Consumer Z

was complaining abaut cosmetic issues that were apparont when she looked atthe

37 Bx 15 Lab ¥A page 133
38 Ea 16 Tub 6 Page 16
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-Consumer ya advlsed him that she had very bad credlt He was able. fn gét her e
“financing but at very high intarest. 8he begged him to finance in-holise and he agreed 7+
“to do so because she seemed to conie from a vary good family. She paid hima: .-
© 1 $1,500.00 dawn payment and gave manthly cheques foi the balance. Shortly after .
- elosing this transaction, he transferred his lease and businéss to a salgsperson called.
" Hyan. Ryan dealt with Cérisumer 2 theraafter. He: told Ryan to: safisfy any safety
' issues she might have. He left the country on September 30, 2011 and asked Ryanto .
. deposit the monthly paym@nf r'thuM for him. Acecarding to Ryan, Consumer Z: -
- bouncad cheques and cama in from time o time to pay cash. This arrangement '
- gantinued ontil Ryan was visited by three individuals from OMVIG whe told himinno = ©
" Uncartain tarms that he had batter take Consumear Z's carback: As anew dea!er' I'!yan- SRR
was concemed about hns reglsiratlnn and decided to take the vehlcle bﬂck S

Iwo wnnesses testmed about adverhsemenls placed oh the Kijiji websnte. Kum ia an
online sales website wherg sellers can advertise wares for sale and purchasers can = -

- contact: them: ~Justin - Brown: teatitied about a complaint he' received aboul an-:

- advertisernent on Kijijl.39  The adverisement is for a 2003 Ford Focus "For Sale By, © -

- Owner.” Mr. Mahmoodi's ¢eli phone number is given and the [bcation ia shown as-
Keolo St and Fingh: Ave. W. Consumér T, advisded Mr. Brown' that' hie called the
number to discuce the vehiclo dnd was told the prico plus an adinistration fee, Since
an Indication tha vehicle 15 for sale by the owner means It i& a private sals, the .
cansumer glestionad the charge. Consumar T informad Mr. Brown that the Applicant - -

. exploded and started abusing him using foul lanquage. When Consumer T asked (o

* speak to the manager, he was told by Mr. Mahmoodi “1 am the f°*“ing manager.” The - .

. Consumer did not advance the. complaint any further than the initlal report fo Mr S
“Brown. Mr Mahmoodl hasg no recollectton of the transactlon; S : L

. 'Andrea KOI‘Th IGSIITIQCI COI"ICGI’I‘III'IQ tWO KJ]IlI advamsemams relatmg foa 2005 FOfo: w0
- Grown Vigtorig. One ad was listad on March 3; 201240 and tha second on April 30,
201241 during a time: when the Applicants’ rights to exercise the privileges of- o
registration under the Act were suspendéed by order of this Tribunal dated October 3,
2011. My Korlh is e Busiiess Standards Coordinator at OMVIC and in thal capacily
- is involved in diseipline issues, It 1s clear from a close: examinalion of the. two
-advertisements that they are for lhe suinu vehicle. Bolli ads reler 1o & sale by the
- awner and give a recent address of Mr. Matimoodi and his cell phone number. Using " -
- the email post process available on Kijiji, Ms Korlh emailed. the seller and sought .
infarmation concarning avmldl)lhly and VIN. On Maigh 14, 2012 she used an alias and -
sent an emai! which asked: .

o fs e car avazl? is it rurning ok') how ig thc body” haa it bcan in an accldcnt" my has
o bheen [sic) quklng for ume of these fr 2 while and I'd like to surpnse him. ) :
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' OnMarch 14 she received a raply sent Irom & cell phone lhat stated that the vehicle -
. wasin good stiape and atill available. She replied on March 16, 2012 IR
:' _ . "m'x_...lé'it ur car? hew n‘iéﬁy'_nw'riers. has it had? 'iéjl_hat”piic_.e
“8he received no further reply 16 this email, On Monday April 23, 2012, shG sentan:
~amail throuah the ijiji post process asking if the car wag still available. She recolveda. - . ¢
Creply that evening thal it was s"tillf_ayaﬂab|_=_.*;_'On'Apri|_ 26 che asked: R R
S ::::_.Great!"l;t: it dld:.cdp'cé.r'?.whan et Gome 8o i? 16 lt'ym'ur car? whare ie it located? R R
ean | ha\_mme\_lm'_!wnnttd_r_l._maoarfax_repdll'm it_.._-' _" o T T RN

ticluding the safety lest.” o

du you have & vin purbar for this car? | want to 1un A carfax on it
 Not having raceived an answer (o her April 26 email, on May 2, 2012 she sertalast
el e e I R
" hithere, . _ NN TR
“ | don't meah to be A pailt in the you khw'WhéL..butrcan'tHc vehicle b saen and is it
-~ il Far saie? ¢an | have the VIN for it 5o} ¢an run a Cartax wahicle acoident repon? My~
hubby's b-uay |s coming up in two and haif weeks 8o timo 18 ticking ) - .

C L Trwabunch _
- Ms Korth [scaived o furthar responses 1o her oriiaits.42 She is of the view thatpe .
- goller who refuses to provide a VIN is doing someihing vidarhanded, R
- Inand around May 1, 2012, Ms Korth reviewed another advettisoment for the sale of a
o yehicle, this time onawebslte'calledGarsificd.com.Asea'rch‘usingthe Applicants' call
phione number had turned up' this website, Ms Korth called W8 number ‘and was -
advised that the vehicle was sold. Mr, Mahmoodi scknowledgos receiving this call. It
- was his evidence {hat Carsified.com is 3 NeW wervice that trolls the nternet- and
~ uplaads from dealers websites withaut thelr permission. . 1NG. plan is 1o create the.
*appearance of @n active website and attract more custormers. He did not piage the:
. Carsified dvertisement, The vehisla In question had sold a year befare from his Firich
~  pramises and iho adverisement wasanoldone, o RN SR '

Me. Mahmoodi denies placing the Kijil advertisements, He producad two boarding
passeadd and a travel itinerary44 indicating that he wag absent from Canada for the,
period from March 13 16 Aprit 24, 2012, In his view it would be easy for a competitor o
place the Killlt ads to attampt o cause harm {o his reputation. He could not specifically

42 in 24 Tab 17 sets out the eniail eachangs '
43 Ex 2/ : .
44 Fx 28
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.- identify who the competitor might be but hinted strongly that t might be Mr. Pishvai, He = RN
.= produced an extract from the Carts R Us website showing a similar make and model "
. vehicled5 and advised the Tribunal that these ex-police cruisers are rare. He stated
. thatin his yedrs as a salesperson he had never handled one, The Tribunal notesthat = -
o . uthe Cars R Us vehicle is offered at $3,500.00 whereas the Kijiji vehicle is offered -
C v o initially at $1,700.00 and then $1,500.00. It was Mr: Mahmoodi's evidence thathe did. -
o not recognize the -background to - the Kijijl_advertisements. and that. it. was not o

- background to the Cars R Us lot. .

- The final witness for the Registrar was Tim. Hines. In his role ag the Manager of
- Complaint Handiing, Mr, Hines is a member of the senior management at OMVIC.
Prior to joining OMVIC as a Complaint Handler, he had been a registered salasperson

- under the Act. He has also been an OMVIC inspector and has worked with the OMVIC

: Compensatio‘n_ Func_i. RPN

Mr. Hines outlined the'man'nér- in which claifns are handled at OMVIC.; 'Complaiht

letters, faxes, emails or telephone calls, Complaints may also be _
- Complaints are assigned as they come in, Phone calls are handled on a random basis;
‘emails rotate through the staff and letiers and faxes are assigned as they arrive,

_There are no particular areas of expertise and handlers are not responsible forany. .

‘particular dealer or salasperson. . -

“The first step in the process is the gathering of information regarding the complaint.

The consumer is encouraged to contact the- car dealer in writing setting out the s
substance of the complaint and seeking redress. If the letter fails to bring about &

satisfactory result, the consumer is asked if they want OMVIC to escalate the claim
and attempt a resolution with the dealer on the consumer's behalf. At this stage, the

- ¢onsumer signs an autherization form permitting OMVIC to attemptto mediate onthe

consumer’s behalf.

“Complaints handling staff is also trained to identify administrative shortcomings on the
partof dealers. Where the dealer has failed to properly follow the Act and regulations,
the staff may bring this failure to Mr. Hines' attention for further administrative action. -
Mr. Hines will draw the issue to the attention of senior management and a decision will
be made concerning future action. Mr. Hines acts as a resource for complaints.

handlers and discusses ongoing issues that are brought to his attention frequently 3

throughout each day. i

The Applicants first came to Mr. Hines attention in 2009 because of a rather large
Hines stated that it was unusual for an individual ~ E
~dealership to have five or more complaints a year. In most cases, the dealerships that .
re selling thousands of vehigles. With respecttothe . -

valume of complaint activity, Mr.

reached five complaints 2 year we _
Applicants, Mr. Hings determined that over the course of their history they hadl sold -
- approximately 300 vehiclés and OMVIC had received 36 complaints, Qver the history
- 45Ex 30 ' - DR o

aiB 325 5217 TO 94165123758 « .

- handlers field complaints in- any manner in which they are tendered. There may be -
made in person. -

P
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of the operation of the Applic’éht dealership, the complaint rate rerained steady and
- high. He discussed the situation with the senior management team at OMVIC and the -
. decision. was made to issue the Notice of Proposal to Revoke the Appiicants

- Tegistrations.

Mr. Hines addressed a complaint brought by the Applicants against Mr. Pishvaiand .
- Cars R Us. According to the complaint, the Applicants had sold 2 2001 Acura MDXto .~
- Cars R Us for $5000.00 plus HST of $650.00. Mr. Pishvai had paid only $5,200.00 = -
‘and the Applicants were seeking assistance to help recoup the balance. The history of -
the sale of this car uncovered some further concems for the Registrar. The vehicle:
had originally been purchased as a trade-in in May 2011 by Bell Auto, the company’

the Applicants used to do some of their safety checks.46 Sometime later, Bell Auto
completed a wholesale bill of sale transferring the vehicle to the Applicants.47 The

date of this transfer was cut off on the copy provided to the Tribunal and counsel for
the Registrar advised that it was unreadable on the version in OMVIC's files. Contrary -

to the law, the Applicants did nat register the change of ownership of this vehicle from
Bell Auto to them. The sale to Cars R Us took place, but again the date is obscured48
and the transfer was registered from Bell Auto directly to Cars R Us.49 Mr. Hines
stated that it is a requirement under the Highway Traffic Act that the transfer be
registered in the narne of the dealer Applicant within six days.

Mr. Hines then reviewed several fransactions Mr. Mahmoodi had been involvedin as a
Cars R Us salesperson. Since Mr. Mahmoodi has admitted to selling for Cars R Us
while not registered and Mr. Pishvai has testified about a number of transactions
where Mr. Mahmoodi had improperly signed “Amir’ on the bills of sale in the place in
which Mr. Pishval should have signed as dealar, the Tribunal will not go into this
evidence in great detail. Mr. Hines also reviewed a number of complaints handled by
Complaints Handlers who are no longer with OMVIC. Invariably, despite that fact that
these complaints raised serious issues about full and frank disclosure on the part of
the Applicants, the consumers chose not to escalate the complaints. In several of the
instances, it would appear that there was a failure to disclose a vehicle damage-
record. Given that in these cases, the consumers chose not o escalate the claims
with OMVIC or come to the Tribunal to testify, the Tribunal assigns littie weight to this
evidence and will not review it in detail. In doing o, the Tribunal is not accepting the
theory advanced by the Applicants through the tenor of their cross-examination
questions that a competitor put these individuals up to making bogus claims. In many
cases, Mr. Mahmoodi himself testified concerning these transactions. Also in many
cases, important details were missing from bills of sale.

One patticular issue does require review. Consumer H lives in Winnipeg, Manitoba.
He saw a 2003 Mercedes Benz C230 advertised by the Applicants and called to
discuss the vehicle with Mr. Mahmaodi. Mr, Mahmoodi prevailed upon Consumer H to

46 Ex 16 Tab 8B page 47
47 Ex 16 Tab 8C page 48
48 Ex 16, Tab 8D page 48
49 Ex 16, Tab 3F page 51

P
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give him a $500.00 deposit 16 hold the vehicle until he could come to Toronto to see it.
Mr. Mahmoodi promised to return the deposit minus $20,00 in the event the consumer
did not like the car. Consumer H came to Toronto several days later and did not like

the car. He asked Mr. Mahmoodi to process a refund. When he received his credit
card statement for that month he contacted OMVIC bacause rather than refund his

P.

statement $480.00, the Applicants had put through another charge for $480.00. Over = .

the next several weeks, Mr. Mahmoodi dealt with OMVIC and stated that the consumer. ~ ©
had been credited according to the Applicants’ bank records. Finally, it became = -
apparent that $980.00 had been charged and Mr. Mahmoodi undertook to refund that. -
amount.: Initially he ended up charging another $980.00 before finally refunding: -

$1,960.00. The Tribunal is satisfied with Mr. Mahmoodi's explanation that this
sequence of transactions was due to his unfamiliarity with the bank charging machines

in his office and that the matter was solved once a service technician attended and
showed him how to process a refund.

In his evidence concerning the failure to fully disclose financing terms on bills of sale,
Mr. Mahmoodi had stated that, at the time the bills of sale were prepared, the financing
terms were unknown. According to Mr. Mahmoodi's evidence, the only concern the
consumers had with respect to financing was the monthly payment. As long as they
could manage the monthly payment they did not care about the other terms. Mr.
Mahmoodi testifled that, once he was satisfied that a consumer was seriously looking
to buy as opposed to just shopping around, he would take a credit application and see
what terms he could get for the consumer. He would also complete a bilt of sale and
usually set out the maximurm monthly payment in the comments box. In some cases,
no payment terms are set out in the bill of sale and the financing agreement was
verbal. In his view, he then had a binding contract with the consumer as long as he
could get the monthly payment rate. If the consumer failed to close the transaction, he
could seek liquidated damages. Ms Mohammed, in cross-examination, answered that,
in her view, at least one of these contracts were valid and legally binding. Ms
Mohammed, of course, has no legal training $o0 her opinions are not binding on this
Tribunal, Mr. Hines addressed this issue using the benefit of his greater experience
and training including his time as a salesperson.

According to Mr. Hines, dealers generally have available to them sources of financing.

Operating in general ignorance of the credit rating of each specific consumer, dealers
can write into a transaction to be financed the terms and conditions that an average
consumer might expect from the financing source, including all of the disclosure
required by the CPA. The bill of sale is then marked “Subject to Approval of financing
terms.” If the consumer qualifies at the rate specified in the bill of sale, the transaction
is then binding and the sale can be completed. If the consumer fails to quallfy for
financing then there are two options. The dealer can seek to get the best terms
available and if they are acceptable to the consumer a new bill of sale can be prepared
incorporating the new terms and the transaction can proceed to close. In the
aiternative, the consumer can decide not to proceed with the purchase in which case it
is the dealer's obligation to retum the deposit and the bil of sale is void, By insisting
on retaining deposit funds because the consumer wished to reject previously

29
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undefined financing

tarms, the Applicants were in breach of their obligations under the
Act and regulations. T -

aviour, according to Mr. Hines was the use

of an unregistered salesperson, Rahmig; breaches of the Code of Ethics with respect .

to non-disclosure of material: information or - financing conditions; acting as a
salesperson while suspended; failing to register a vehicle within 6 days and before
selling it contrary to the Highway Traftic Act; failure to disclose all material facts
relating to a vehicle to be sold: failure to compensate consumers after defects came to
his attention; failure to take responsibility for work done on vehicles at his request by

third parties, in particular, issues arising out of safety inspections; and failure to comply
with responsibiiities as a registrant under the CpA,

Mr. Mahmoodi denied that he was ever unprofessional with

Qverall in his testimony,
consumers. it was his position that those who sajd he was were not telling the truth. In
get their money back and said

particular, it was his position that consumers lied to
whatever was necessary to OMVIC, He testified that if he felt that OMVIC would use
the large number of complaints as grounds to revoke his registration, he would have
handled matters differently. At the heart of his feasoning was hig understanding that
once he had a deposlt from a consumer, there was no cooling off period and he could
recover liquidated damages if a consumer sought to set aside the deal. He advanced
this position even when there was a failure to make full disclosure of damage history or
to include the full terms and conditions of financing. He acknowledged that he had
answered corractly in his qualification exam questions relating to a dealer's obligations
under the Act and regulations and under the CPA. He hinted, without saying

definitively that, degpite his 79% mark in the exam, his answers to those questions
were lucky guesses.

ANALYSIS

Given the position of the Applicants in this case t
being untruthful because the

concerning knowledge of the damage history of the vehicles relating to Consumers S
and R,

The transaction invoiving Consumer R highlights another deliberate attempt to

50 Ex 5 tab 2 pages 7 - 10.

¢ enumerated them as conditions 1, 6, 7,9,

P.
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mistead: initially OMVIC and then this Tribunal. It will be recalled that Consumer R
‘complained that he had not signed a bill of dale. Mr, Mahmoodi insisted in his = - -
testimony that ke had and produced a bill of sale in the amount of $7,500.00, The K
- documentation shows that this vehicle was purchased at auction for $8,500.00and -~
- - finally sold for $10,750.00. Mr. Mahmaodi stated on two occasions in his evidence that - -

the vehicle was “a $10,000.00 car.”: The bill of sale allegedly signed by Consumer R |

was clearly produced in haste by Mr. Mahmoodi in an attempt to misiead OMVIC into -

| . believing Consumer R was lying without thought as to how it may come back to haunt

- him. Having started down that track, Mr. Mahmoodi continiied to Insist in his evidence

~ that he had not forged Consumer R's signature on the bill of sale when, in f'act',-_'ha had.

Finally, the bulk of the consutner evidence given at this Tribunal supports the
conclusion that Mr. Mahmoodi had a practice, when selling cars, that leads the
Tribunal to believe the consumer evidence. Mr. Mahmoodi's sales technique
involved establishing a rapport with a buyer and making whatever promises he felt
necessary to clinch the deal. He did not feel comfortable uniil he had convinced
the consumer to provide a deposit. Once he had money in his hands, it was:
unlikely that he would ever give it back, In some instances, he was pressured to
make compensation offers but, by his own admission, he failed to make at least
one agreed payment, the payment to Consumer S, One clear example of a wild
. promise was his statement 1o Mr, Pishvai that it was necessary to give an- - -

- $8,000.00 warranty to complete the sale. In this transaction, Mr. Mahmoodi was

- hot risking his own funds and was seeking to generate a sales comsnission for .
~ himself. - R S : : '

In coming to this conclusion, the Tribunal does not absolve consumers of some -
respansibility, especially those who did not take vehicles for test drives and
uncritically reposed their trust in Mr. Mahmoodi. For example, Consumer 2's
complained about cosmetic issues with her vehicle that would have been apparent
from a cursory inspection. A reasonable consumer would have conducted that

- cursory Inspection. The Tribunai reads the obligations of a dealer under the Act and
regulations as ¢reating a duty to disclose those things known to the dealer that are
not obvious to the consumer such as expertly repaired previous damage or the true
cost and impact of financing terms. The Tribunal does not impose on a dealer a
need to point out the obvious fact that a hub cap is missing. With respect to
Consumer Z's complaint, what is telling is the failure to fully disclose financing
terms and the failure to respond when mechanical issues presented themselves

shortly after purchase, not that there was a hub cap missing or rust spots on the
bady. . : _ _ - o _ .

- The generai nature of the allegations against the Applicants has already been set .
- out, it may be of assistance to restate those allegations and indicate the Tribunal's
findings with respect to each, In each case, the standard of proof applied by the
Tribunal has been proof on a balance of probabilities. :

! - - . . 7.- .DIIIR. g.'r OMN (MmMmm-53):15.56
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1. Allegations relating to consumer complaints, in particular, the failure to

" Pursuant to §. 9 of the CPA

pwv’i'dg'a_basic_'\}va_'r_'rarjty_offi'tnesq'fo'_r_ purpose. . . - | | o
* The business of selling cars requires attention to a wide range of interrelated statutes

0o andregulations. The starting pointfor addressing thess allegations iss. 16 ofthe Safe .
o of Goods Act R. 8. O. 1990 _C_ha'p_S'.-_1_;whi:cl:_11's_ta'tes:“____ SR

15 Sublect to this Act and any staiute In that behall, there is no implied waranty

or condition as to the quality o fitriess for any particular purpose of goods. -
- suppliéd under a contraot of sale, except as follows: " B
1.7 Where the buyer, expressly or by implication, makes known to the'
Lo seller the particular purpose for which the goods are required so as
. ta show that the buyer relies on the seller's skill or judgment, and- - . .
- the goods are of a deséription that it is in the course of the seller's - i
* - business to supply (whather the selier is the manufacturer arnot), . - S
.. there'is an impliad condition that the goods will be reasonably fitfor . .
“auch purpose'_ ST e . Rk

, when a supplier of goods sells to a consumer, the . -

.- suppligr cannot contract out of the Sale of Goods Actwarranties:

'g; (1)-The $Up:piiér Is'deein'e'dto_Warrant ihat the services supplieduride'ré SN
consumer agreement are of a reasonably acceptable quality. - .0

Qualityofgoods . L e
{2) The implied conditions and warranlies applying to the sale of goads by virtue of

-+ Ihe Sale of Goods Act are deemed to apply with necessary modifications {6 goods

- that are leased or traded or otherwise supplied under a consumer agreament.

- (3) Anyterm or acknowledgement, whether part of the consumer agreement of not,
. that purports to negate or vary ariy imiplied condiion of warranty under the Sale of

) . Goods Act or any deemed conditioh or warranty under this Act is void. == -
-+ [4) IF aterm or acknowledgement referenced in subseation (3} is a term of the
. agreement, it is severable from the agreement and shall hot be evidence of

circumstances showing an intent that the deerned or implied warranty or condition
does not apply: ; : : : Sl o _

 These statutory terms have been incorporated Into Standards of Businass Practice
applicable to dealers under the Act:51. L ' :

"+ 9. PROFESSIONALISM | B
(1) I carrying on business, 4 registrant shall nat engage in any act or omission that,
. having regard to all of tHe gircumstances, woild reasonably be regarded as - ..

_ disgraceful_. dishonpu'rable, unp_rofaSsic‘_)nal"or unbecaming of a registrant.

(2) In carrying on a business, a reglstrant shall act with honesty, integrity and
clairnesa oo s T T SRTER IS

51

U ate ses 5217 T0 94165123758 . P.32
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(3) A reglstrant ehall use the reglstrant’s best eflods o prevent error, :
mrsrepresenlahon fraud or any unethlcal practrce ln respect ‘of a lrade |n 8 molor

vehlcle

@A reglstrant shall provlde r.:onsclentroue senvice to lhe reglstranl s customers in-
- the course of & frade in & motor vehicle and shall dermanstrate ressonable’
a Knowledge sklll Judgmenl and competence rn prowdrng rhe eervlces

(a) a regletered motor vehlcle dealer entere lnto a contract to sell or lease a

. motor vehicle toa purchaser or Iessee Who 18 not another regretered motor:
: Vehlcre dealer : - . o

(b the purchaser or 1eesee trades in another motor vehrcle to the dealer

~ under the contract or to another reglstered maotor vehlcle dealer undera -
. separate centracl and : : .

“{c) the dealer who recmves the vehlcle being lraded ln agrees {0 pay any

outstanding loan on the vehicle or to pay any outstandlng bill for the reparr or :
- slorage of lhe vehrcle. : :

the dealer Who receives the vehuele bemg lraded in shall fulfil lhe de'aler's obligatichs
under the egreement descnbed in clause (c) w

EXAMF‘LES

9.1 Heglslrants promprly, honestly and courleeusly respond to complarnts
'_ made abeut them by ottier Hegletrants, consumers or others

9.2 Heglstranls keep informed with r respect 1o all matters essential to the
- -conduciofbushessinlhenﬁnorueMGmihdusz.j

9. 3 Flegrstrants ceoperale with OMVIC representatives carrylng out OMVlC s
adm:mslratrve activities meludlng lnqulnes mspectlons lnvestlgatuons and discipline.

9.4 The obligatioris in Exampie 9.3 apply Wheter the issue concerrts that’
Registrant, another Registrant or any other person.

9.5 Registrants sell or lease motar vehicles reasonably fit for the intended
- use thata censumer expresaly ot by lmpilcatlon makes known to the Hegletran’r A
mator Vehicle may be eonsrdered not reasonably ht because it is not designed for the
mtended us,e, or becauae it has slructural or mechanloal delects

"9, 8 All cnnlracte respectlng motor veh:cle transactlons are in wnlmg and '
disclose ali rerms ahd oonditions, mcludlng the total amount of all paymente made or
received in relation to lhe sale or lease of a motor vehicle. Al'ter all terms and

o : o N L e BTN e asymae | S
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condltrons have been flllsd cut on the contract every contract Is slgned by all partles

16 the contract and a mgned duplicate ongxnal ccpy of the contract is provuded to ail
partres to the contract ' '

_ 9 9 Arl terrns and condmons tn contracts respectlng motor vehicle
transactlons are sat out clear!y and in plam Ianguage D:sc[osure stataments are
_ expressed clearly and concisaly m a logtcal order and |n a manner that is !1kety to -
brrng the mformatnon to the attentron of the purchaser \

9, 10 Dealers encoyrage consumers to read and understand the terms and .
© conditions of all conireicts before sagmng the contract.

9.1 Dealer employees are clear and truthful in describing vehicle features
benefits and prices, and in exprainrng products, services, programs and charges,

They assist customers to find the vehicle thal best rmeets their nseds and financial
ablhty

9.12 Heglstrants comply wlth the aII laws that govern the motor uehlcte
mdustry. ingiuding apphoabte paﬁs of the tottowmg Ieglstatton '

- Motdr Vehicle Dealers Acr, 2002;
~ Consumer Protection Act, 2002;
- Highway Traffic Act:
- Human Rights Code; -
- Sa.re of Goods Act;
- Enwronmenral Protectron Acty
- Personal Property Security Act:
- Repair and Storage Liens Act.

- Competition Act (as it pertains to the advertising of motor vehicles)

9.13 Ragistrants have knowledge of and comply with the Codé of Ethlcs.

Registrants cannot create or enter into an agreement which nsgates any obligation
under the Code of Etmcs

9.16 Ftsgist’rants do not Kriowingly aflow anyone other than a registered
Salespersen to be involved in negotiating or approving motor vehicle transactions or
to give information about specific motor vehicles that are for sale or lease. Without
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- limiting the generality of the foregaing, such positions include thosé typidally known
as business managers, finarice and insurance staff, leasing staff, sales staft and afl
 sales and leasing managers.. - . R ' '

| . 9.17 Registrants do not encourage or counsel anyone to break a contract
- already made with another Registrant. . ' - AT

9.18 When Ieasing a usad motor vehicle, Reglstrants enstire that the rotor vehicle

' has been inspected and that a Safety Standards Gentificate Has been issued for that vehicle.

A number of consumers appeared before the Tribunal to complain abotit what maybe

euphemistically referred to as poor after sales service. Consumer X took his vehicle
back to the Applicants as soon as he left the lot as did Consumer S. Gonsumer Z
identified numerous defects in her vehicle Including an inoperative heater as winter.
approached. Consumer W had problems with her sun roof within a coupla of days of

leaving the dealership. Mr. Mahmoaodi testified that he felt an obligation to fix safety -

related items and there is evidence that he did so in a couple of instances, most
notably in Consumer W’s case. Equally, there is evidence that he refused to carry out
even safety related repairs as was the case with Consumer 8. Mr. Hines and other
OMVIC witnesses stated that the fitness for purpose warranty meant that the vehicle
had to operate normally for some petiod of time or else the dealer was under an.
obligation fo fix it. It is clear that Mr. Mahmoodi understood this fact. When
addressing the $8000.00 warranty sale while he worked for Mr. Pishvai, he stated that
the $8,000.00 warranty did not cost Mr. Pishvai any money because the vehicle in
question suffered an engine failure within 3 days of the sale and Mr. Pishvai was under
an obligation to fix it in any event. This is not a standard he applied to himself. The
Tribunal finds that the allegation against the Applicants that they failed to appropriately
deal with consumer complaints and extend the statutory warranties is proven.

2, Allegations relating 1o failure to properly complete and deliver bills of sale
to consumers in accordance with the Act and regulations; In particular:

a. Failure to disclose financing terms,

b. Failure to disclose all of the fees and charges relating to the sale of
a vehicle o

c. Failure to disclose material facts, especially damage history,

d. Accepting deposits from consumers and failing to provide a bill of
sale, and '

e.  Failure to provide a bill of sale to consumers desplte the completion
of the sale and delivery of the vehicle.

With respect to allegation a., the obligation to disclose finéncing terms is found, again,
in an interplay of statutes and regulations. S. 40 of O/Reg 333/08 sets out the

P.
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contents of an automotive bill of sale as follows: -

.- 80._(1) Before entering into a contraat to séll 4 used motar vehicle to a purchaser:
- who is not a registered motor vehicle dealer, a registered motor venicle dealer shall
ensure that the person providing financing for the purchage has provided to the _
purchaser the information that must be disclosed in any initial disclosure statement

- fequired Under section 79 of the Consumer Protection Act, 2002 with respect io the
finanging if; . SRR PR : S

' (a)the purchaser is a consumer within the meaning of that Act: and..

~ (b) the dealer is providing the financing or the application for the finéh’cing to
.+ the purchaser, : L : _ 7 o _
(2 A registered motor vehicle dealer shall snsure that any contract that the dealer

enters into to sell a used motor vehicle to a purchaser who Is not another registerad

. motor vehicle dealer includes, in a clear, comprehensible and prominent manner, the
following:

1. The matters required under paragraphs 1 to 3, 5 to 10, 14 to 19 and 21 to
27 of subsection 39 (2),

~ 1.1 1f the contract is made through a motor vehicle dealer registered as a
general deslet, the ragistered name and registration number of that dealer,

together with the legal name of that dealer if it is different from the registered
name.

2. A statement that the dealer has complied with subsection (1), if that
subsection applies to the dealer with respect to the contract,

3. An itemized list of all repairs, If any, that, under the contract, the dealer

has made to the vehicle or will make to the vehicle and the cost of any such
repairs that are to be paid by the purchaser.

4. If a current safety standards certificate under the Highway Traffic Act has
been issued for the vehicle, that cettificate and a statement in accordance

with subsection (5) in 12 point bold font, except for the heading which shall
be in 14 point boid font,

5. If the dealer is selling the viehicle on an'ag-is basis, a statement in -
accordance with subsection (8) in 12 point bold font, except for the heading

which shall be in 14 point bold font, whers the purchaser initials the
statement,

(3} No registered motor vehicle dealer shall sail a used motor vehicle on an as-is
basis to a purchaser who is not a registered motor vehicle deater if a current safety
standards certificate under the Highway Traffic Act has been issued for the vehicle,

3. 79 of the CPA referenced in subsection 40 (1) states:

79. (1) Bvery lender shall deliver an initial disclosure statement for a oredit
agreement to the borrower at or before the time that the borrower enters into the
agreement, unless the lender has adopted the loan broker's Initial disclosure
statement as his, her or its own.

Contents of statement, fixed eradit

{2) The initial disclosure statement for a credit agreemant for fixed credit shall
disclose the prescribed information,

= = = =z -l - = B AzZS - 1556
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Contents of statement, open credit _
{3} The initial disclosure statement for a credit agreement for open credit shall
disclose the prescribed information.

Brokerage fee :

- §4) It aloan broker assists in arranging a credit agreement, the initial disclosure -
statement shall disclose the preseribed infarmation. '

The prescribed information s set out in O/Reg 17/05 as follows:

63. (1) The initial disclosure statement for & oredit agreement for fixed credit shall

be in writing and, for the purpose of subsection 79 (2) of the Act, shall disclose the

following information, in addition to the information required under subsection 78 (1)
of the Act:

0.1 The outstanding principal balance as at the beginning of the term of the credit
agreement.

1. The total of the advances to be made o the borrower.

2, It more than one advance is to be made to the borrower, the nature, timing and
amount of each advance.

3. The length of the term of the credit agreemant,
4. The cost of borrowing.

§. The length of the term of the amortization period, if different from the length of the
term of the credit agreement.

6. The interest rate payabile by the borrower under the credit agreement, if the rate
will not change during the term of the credit agreement,

7. If the interest rate payable by the borrower under the credit agreement may
change during the term of the credit agreement,

i, tha initial interest rate payable by the borrower under the credit agreement,

ii. the manner of determining the annual interest rate at any lime during the
term of the credit agreement, and

lii. unless the amount of the scheduled payments is adjusted to account for
changes in the interest rate, the lowest interest rate at which the scheduled
payments would not cover the interest thal would accrue between
consecutive scheduled payments based on the outstanding principal
batance as at the beginning of the term of the credit agreement.

8. The date on which interest begins to accrue under the credit agreement.

9. The circumstances under which interest is compoundad under the cradit
agreemant.

10. For each elemeant of the cost of horrowing, other than interest, the nature of the
element and amount payable by the borrower.

11. The details with respect to grace periods under the credit agreement.
12, The annual percentage rate for the credit agreement,

13. Subject to subsection (2), the aptiohal services accepted by the borrower, the
charge for each optional service, the borrowsr's right to terminate any aplional
service of a continuing nature and the manner of exergising that right.

14, The total of all payments the borrower is requirad to make in connection with the
credit agreement and the timing and amount of each payment, including, without

4168 325 5217 TO 94165123758
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payment. .

15, Ii the credit agreement does not require the borrower to make scheduled.
payments, e natreadie e borrower o make scheduled .

' I'Frﬂiié'tion..ény'd:ou:rr't payment, lréde?lh"ailo'wénd'e:, balloor payment and final .- .

1 the Circumstancés uUnder which the oui'sténdir"\g bajance or a'ﬁortio'n’ ofitie -
- required to be paid bythe'bqr;tmar,“_'c_)r__ s T R R
ii. the provisions of the credit agreement tha set out those clrcumstances.
" 16. The method used to apply each payment by the borrower againstthe, . .
accumulated cost of borrowing and against the outstanding principal l;alance. i
17, The prepayment rights, charges and penalties that apply to the credit agreement.
18. The method of caleulating the amourit that thé lender is required to refund or
credit 10 the borrower under subsection 76 (2) of the Act and section 60 of this- =
Reguiation, if the botrower prepays the full outstanding balance under the cradit
agreement. . .. P R ;
19. The default charges under the credit agresment.

20. If the borrower is giving a security interest in peréénél propeny to sec':u're the -
borrower's indebtedness under the cradit agreement, a description of the property
that will be subject to the security interest.

21. If the credit agreement requires the borrower io pUrchasé insurance,

I. that the borrower may purchase the insurance from any insurer who may
lawtully provide that type of insurance and may purchase the insurance- :
direcily frorn__ the insurer or through an agent of the borrower's choice, and

il, If the credit agreement gives the lender the following i'ight. that despite
subparagraph I, the lender has the right to disapprove, on reasonable
grounds, an insurer selected by the borrower.

In his evidence, Mr, Mahmoodi attemptad to justify his admitted failure to insert -
such terms “Before entering into a contract to sell a used motor vehicle toa -~
' purchaser” by suggesting that consumers are not really interested in such =
information. All they are interested in is the affordability of the monthly payment.. -
For the purposes of this hearing it is not necessary to explore whether the public
policy reflected in these extensive regulatory requirements satisfy a genuine public
concern. It is sufficient to state that, at this time, it is a legal requirement that these
details are included in g bill of sale or through other written disclosure before the bill

of sale is signed. The Applicants did not do so and are in breach of the Act, the
CPA and applicable regulations.

In at least one case, the sale to Consumer S, the evidence is clear that the

Applicants failed to disclose all attendant fees. Consumer S paid a $300.00 fee to

- the Applicanta to ensure the car was perfect and a noise in the trunk was fixed. -
That fee is not reflected in the bill of sale. In another, Mr, Mahmaoodi advised Mr.

Brown that the AutoGard warranty had been provided free of charge, Mr. Brown

advised him that the cost of that warranty needed to be broken out in the bill of sale

notwithstanding it did not represent an extra charge to the consumer, The Tribunal
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- finds that this allegation has been proven.

o Inthe review above conceming credibility, the Tribunal canvassed anumberofsales
.. where the Applicant was. aware of material facts related to vehicles thathe chosenot . =~
- todisclose. Only research and evidenice from CarProof's representative, Mr. Maiorana. -~
o pinpointed that date of Mr. Mahmoodi's knowledge in the face of his denials. These = .. -
were not the only instances. Mr. Pishvai testified concerning the Porsche Boxtertrade- . .
-Inwhen Mr. Mahmoodi failed to enter a damage history that was kniown to him into the AL
oo trade-in bill of saie. The evidence Is overwhelming that the Applicants sold vehicles .. -~
oo without full disclosure. of material facts known tothem at the time of sale.

- The last two allegations undar this section relate to the failure to provide bills of sale. -
- . The two categorles relate to persons from whom deposits have been received and
- persons wha have actually purchase vehicles. There is clear evidence that these -
- allegations have been proven. Consumer X and Consumer Z both testified that they
- were not given bills of sale when they purchased their vehicles. In the former case, -
- Consumer X stated that he never ever recelved a bill of sale.. In the latter, Consumer2 -
. went back to the dealership a number of times before finally recelving an unsignied -
- €opy of the bill of sale. Consumer R not only denied receipt of a bill of salg, but, based
- on the evidence, established to the satisfaction of ‘the Tribunal that the bill of sale -
- -+ advanced by the Applicants c’dntaina'dafOrg'ed'signa'tUre'."Con's'umerH'fr‘orn_ Winnipeg.
. placed a deposit over the phone and even the Applicants have notalléged that hewas
~. provided with a bill of sale. The Tribunal finds these two allegations proven.. =~

3, - An allegétidh re"l_a'ting' to fraudulently signing aconsumer's n’ei'mé_ toabill .
- of sale and delivering the bill of sale to OMVIC to defend agalnst the =~
- consumer’s clalm for the return of a deposit, . S SR

" The Tribunal has canvassed the evidence relating to this allegation above and finds
- that it_.is_'p'rov'er], ST e T : T
4. Allegations against Mr. Mahmoodi reldtingtdacting'a salespefson under
the Act when he was not registered to do so. . -

Mr. M'éhmoodi has admitt.éd 't'his' activity.' '

5. An allegation that the Applicants carried on the business of selling cars
- during the period following October 3, 2011 when their registration to do

S0 was suspended by this Tribunal,

Carsified.com advertisement and was given by Mr. Korth of OMVIC. The eviderice -
- creates some difficulties because there was only an exchange of emails concerning
o the Kijiji-ad\fer’tisements and no direct identification of Mr. Mahmoodi_._.' The Trib‘unal :

The evidence relating to this allegation consists of two Kijiji advertisements and a |
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- he was out of the: country during the email exchange That leaves the Tribunal o

: determine, on a balance of probabilities, if it. was more Iukely than not that thef .
L Applicants were responsnble for these advertlsements : SN

.....

*.* email communication worldwide is possible through computers, Intemet cafes and:_ RESET
“smart phones. At least one of the responses came from a phone, Mr. Mahmoodi could

. easily have communicated with Ms Korth while he was abroad. = Additionally, Mr;

~ . Mahmoodi has acknowledged that the cell phone number given in the advertisements.
~_Is his and that he answers that cell phone. Applying the test, is it more likely thannot
- the Applicants placed these advertisements, the Tribunal is forced to conclude that it -
is. No other explanation bears close exammatton Accordlngly, the Tnbunal tmds this -

] allegatlon proven

S S Allegatiéns that the Applicant delibérﬁtély dellvered falsified documents PRR
- to OMVIC with the intent to mislead OMVIC when deallng wlth consumer .

o complalnts. _

This allégatit:n ha's_'been canvassed above. There are two documents in issue; the
falsified bill of sale relating to Consurmer R and the falsified CarProof report relating to -
- - Consumer L. The latterdoecument was provided during the course of this hearing inan

attempt to mislead not only OMVIC but the Trlbunal The Tnbunal is satlsﬂed that thus
- allegation has been proven. -

One ground advanced by the Registrar In addition to the grounds set out above is that

the Applicant used an unregistered salesperson, Rahmic, in the sale to Consumer S.
Ms Thrasher testified that no salesperson named Rahmic was registered with the

Applicants and that Mr. Mahmoodi denied using anyone called Rahmic. In his

- evidence Mr. Mahmoodi testified that he had a registered salesperson at that time who
was developing a nickname rather than use his rather long and difficuli to pronounce:

“proper name. In the absenice of evidence from the Registrar showing the names of -

Jdm

o Tha Tnbunal accepts Mr Mahmoodl s explanatlon wuth respect to the Carsuﬂed com'?_'i. EERTER T
.. advettisement that it constitutes an unauthorized download from his website. The =~
+ explanation is consistent with the telephone call he answered from Ms Korthwhenhe =
- advised her the car was sold. The: Tribunal does not accept the fact that Mr.. =
5 Mahmoodi's absence from Canada dunng the email axchange wnh Ms Korth w0uld in

persons, if any, registered as salespeople with the Applicant at that time, the Tribunal SR

cannot conclude that Rahmic was nota regtstered salesperson abla to sell cars forthe L

Apphcants

'The Heguatrar also advanced the position that the corporate Applacant had braach o
- terms and ‘conditions of registration. For the most part, the terms and conditions of -
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< registration relied on by the Registrar track obligations of the Applicants set outin
- various statutory instruments. Breach of the. statutory. and regulatory scheme

- . constitutes a breach of the terms and conditions and the Tribunal finds for the reasons .+ -

- set out above that the corporate Applicant breached its terms of registration, -~ -

- The right to registration s set out in the Act at s. 6. The applicable terms are as
- follows: " T I T s G e A S
| o g__m An.app'lif:ént that meets the pré'so‘rib'e'd"requ'iremehté'is entitledto: .~
- registration or renewal_'o_f'regist_rai_ion_ by the registrar unless; S DR '
(@) the applicant is not a corporation and, _ =
(i) having regard to the applicant's financial position of the financial position of an. .
interested person in respect of the applicant, the applicant cannot reasonably be. -
expectad to be financially responsible in the comuc_t of buginess;

(1) the past coriduet of the applicant or of an interested person in respect of the
-applicant affords reasonable grounds for belief that the applicant will not carry on
- business in accordance with law and with integrity and honesty, or - - '

(iliy the applicant o an employee or agent of the applicant makes & false statement

or provides a false statement in an application for registration or for renewal of
registration; _ e S

.- (e) the applicant or an interested person in respect of the appiicart is carrying on
- activities that are, or will be if thie applicant is registered, In contravention of this Act
or the regulations, other than the code of ethics established uhder section 43;

(f) the applicant is in breach of a condition of the registration.

Pursuantto s. 8, the Registrar may issue a Notice of Proposal to Revoke Registration
on any ground for which registration may be refused under s. 6. and 5.9 provides for

rights of appeal to the Tribunal from the Registrar's Notice. On appeal, the powers of - _
- the Tribunal are set outin s. 9 (5): : . o A EEEETE

Hearing S R
(5) I a hearing is requested, the Tribunal shall hold the hearing and may by order
direct the registrar to carry out the registrar's proposal or substitule its opinion for

that of the registrar and the Tribunal may attach conditions to its order or to a
registration,

The Registrar urges on the Tribunal the position that the past conduct of the
Applicants provides reasonable grounds for belief that they will not carry on business -

in accordance with the law or with integrity and honesty. Further, ttie Registrar argues _
that the Applicant has breached terms and condlitions of registration, in itself a ground -
for revocatiori. Mr. Mahmoodi admits that he has made mistakes but argues they were
~ mistakes arising out of a lack of experience in the industry. He asserts that he is
inherently honest and, if given a second chance, he will learn from his mistakes and -
perform better in the future. He states that to assistin the learning process he is happy -
to accept any terms the Tribunal may impose. He is prepared to pay to consuiners any

money the Tribunal feels may be owed and to take any course to learn about the
obligations of a registrant under the Act. o _ -
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" The Tribunal is satisfied tfiat the
Applicants provides reasonable grounds for belief that the
business in accordance with law or with integtity and hone

year, Mr. Mahmoodi § aftitude was that he would await the outcome of this hearing
before deciding whether to pay or not. it would appear that it is not his promise to pay
that is the motivator but whether the Tribunal will force him to pay. Put another way,
Mr. Mahmoodi is waiting o see if he can get away without paying.

The second term advanced by Mr. Mahmoodi was that the Tribunal require that he
attend school to learn about his obligations under the Act, The difficulty with this term
is that Mr. Mahmoodi has already attended such a course and achieved a mark in the
region of 80% in the exam, He answered correctly many if not all the questions relating
to ethical dealing and the application on the CPA. He chose to hear his instructors but
not to listen to them. The suggested term is nothing more than a request to repeat the
basic qualification course. Until he chooses to listen, such a course of action is futile.

Having reviewed all of the evidence, the Tribun
where terms are warranted. |t must be reme

P

evidence discloses that past conduct of the
‘Applicants will not carryon.
nesty. Itis also clear that the

.42
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ORDER
Pursuant to the provisions of s, 9 (5) of the' Act, the Tribunal orders the Registrarto
carry out his proposal dated August 23, 2010 as amended to revoke the.

registrations of 1775091 Ontario in¢. o/a Canadian Best Auto Inc, as a motor

vehicle dealer and Hadi Mahmoodi as a motor vehicle dealer and saiesperson
under the Act. = SERLE e '

LICENGE APPEAL TRIBUNAL

/N

D. Gregory Flude, Chair

RELEASED: May 29, 2012
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